ECONOMIC GEOGRAPHY AND CLUSTER POLICY, WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO KAZAKHSTAN

 $J.S.L.\ MCCOMBIE^1$

AND

MARTA R.M. SPREAFICO

CAMBRIDGE CENTRE FOR ECONOMIC AND PUBLIC POLICY

CCEPP WP06-14

DEPARTMENT OF LAND ECONOMY

UNIVERSITY OF CAMBRIDGE

JULY 2014

¹ John McCombie is Professor of Regional and Applied Economics at the University of Cambridge and is Director of the Cambridge Centre of Economic and Public Policy. (Corresponding author, email <u>jslm2@cam.ac.uk</u>.) Dr Marta R.M. Spreafico is at the Institute of Economic Policy, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Milan, Italy.

This paper was commissioned by the Asian Development Bank.

ABSTRACT

After the collapse of the Soviet Union, the Central Asian Economies became independent and autonomous countries. Like most of the transition economies, they have experienced considerable difficulties in their economic development in moving from a centrally planned system to a market economy. Over the first ten years of transition there was a significant economic dislocation, with very low or even negative growth rates. However, at the beginning of the 2000s, their fortunes changed as they started experiencing a rapid growth path. Kazakhstan is an excellent example of this. Consequently, a major issue is to understand what are the best economic policies to ensure that these rapid rates of growth are maintained. This paper considers the implications of economic geography, especially the role of space, distance, and density, and of cluster policies for the development path of these countries, with special reference to Kazakhstan. It discusses whether or not it is optimal to implement a resource-based cluster development strategy for these countries and concludes considering other possible development strategies.

Key words: central Asian economies, cluster policies, development strategies, economic geography, transition economies.

CONTENTS

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Geography and Economic Development
- 3. The Increasing Returns Revolution in Economic Theory
 - 3.1 Sources of Increasing Returns
 - 3.2 Increasing Returns: The Empirical Evidence
- 4. Clusters and Regional Development
 - 4.1 Clusters and Spatial Growth
 - 4.2 Clusters and the Cumulative Causation Model of Economic Growth
- 5. Criticisms of the Theory of Clusters
- 6. Resource-Based Industrialization and Clusters
 - 6.1 Successful Resource-Based Clusters
 - 6.2 The Spatial Implications of Energy and Mineral Clusters
 - 6.3 Energy Resources in the AKTU Countries
- 7. Industrial Development and Cluster Policy in Kazakhstan
 - 7.1 The Historical Legacy and the Spatial Structure of Industry in Kazakhstan
- 8. Kazakhstan's Cluster Policy
 - 8.1 Kazakhstan's Energy Cluster
 - 8.1.1 The Spatial Impact of the Oil Revenues
 - 8.2 Innovation Clusters and Technoparks in Kazakhstan
 - 8.2.1 The Science Base of Kazakhstan
 - 8.2.2 The Innovation Clusters and the Technoparks
 - 8.3 The Agro-Food Cluster in Kazakhstan
- 9. Conclusions
- 10. References

"The development of well-functioning clusters is one of the essential steps in moving to an advanced country" (Porter, 1998, p. 234).

1. Introduction

The CAREC² countries have now been independent from the former Soviet Union for nearly two decades. Yet they still face considerable problems in their economic development, notwithstanding their rapid growth over the last seven or so years. Like many other transition economies, the initial move towards a market economy was accompanied by a significant economic dislocation, with low or negative growth rates. Moreover, the prognosis at the end of the 1990s was not good because of the lack of political and economic cooperation between the countries and their vast distances from the major world markets (Olcott et al., 1999). Since about 2000, however, there has been a remarkable transformation in their fortunes with rapid growth rates averaging between 5 and 9 per cent per annum. There has also been a more positive move towards a market economy, increased efficiency, and regional cooperation. (Olcott, 2005). (See Pomfret (2006) for a good discussion of the post-1991 performance of the Central Asian Economies.³) With the exception of Kazakhstan, their exposure to 2007/10 financial crisis was limited, and it reduced the average growth rate of the CAREC counties by only about one percentage point.⁴ Kazakhstan is the most developed of the Central Asian countries and is now classed as a "middle income" country by the World Bank. It already sees itself as having the potential to join the BRIC countries (Brazil, Russia, India and China) but, nevertheless, it still has a long way to go (Olcott, 2008). Consequently, a central question facing not only Kazakhstan, but all the CAREC countries is what are the best economic policies to ensure that the rapid rates of growth since 2000 are maintained?

This chapter considers the implications of economic geography, especially space and distance, for the development of the CAREC countries, and in particular the Central Asian Economies. One of the major set of impediments to rapid growth is the landlocked nature

² The CAREC countries are Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan, Uzbekistan, Afghanistan, Northern China and Mongolia.

³ The Central Asian Economies are Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan, Uzbekistan. Although very diverse in their institutions and resource bases, they form a natural grouping in terms of their development problems.

⁴ Kazakhstan has the most developed financial sector of the CAREC countries which is integrated into the world financial markets. Hence, it was the most severely affected by the sub-prime crisis.

of these countries, their poor transport infrastructure and high transport costs (Asian Development Bank, 2006, Raballand *et al.*, 2005). But the importance of space and distance goes beyond these considerations, important though they are.

More generally, in recent years, there has been increasing evidence amongst mainstream economists that space and density, factors long neglected in neoclassical growth models, including both the Solow and endogenous specifications, are important in explaining both the level and productivity growth of a region or country (World Bank, 2008)⁵. This has important implications for any national economic development strategy, including those of the CAREC countries. A corollary is that it is now appreciated that increasing returns, especially city agglomeration economies, an essential part of the story. In many advanced, developing and transition countries, there has been a marked change from trying to promote economic growth solely by policies at the national level to a more 'bottom-up' approach based on identifying and encouraging spatial groupings or 'clusters' of firms and enhancing the competitiveness of cities. This is especially true of Kazakhstan and the other CAREC countries are likely to follow Kazakhstan's lead.

As we shall see, there is evidence that suggests that firms that are in close spatial proximity to each other benefit from a number of positive externalities, ranging from technological spillovers to the advantages of pooling labour and the specialisation of firms producing intermediate goods. Thus, increasing returns, the density of production and spatial clusters of firms are all interrelated and form a central part of any explanation of both international and regional productivity disparities. Any attempt to achieve balanced spatial development is likely to drastically reduce the overall rate of growth, but development will bring with it convergence in per capita incomes (see World Bank, 2008, chapter 1).

In the policy field, undoubtedly one of the most influential concepts is the concept of the 'cluster'. While the cluster is not a precisely defined term, it generally refers to the spatial concentration of firms and its importance stems from the fact that these firms benefit from increasing returns broadly defined to include, especially, agglomeration economies as noted above.

⁵ Regional economists and economic geographers have long appreciated this.

The cluster has become largely associated in policy circles with the approach taken by Michael Porter (1990, 1993, 1998, 2000, 2003). Indeed, it is fair to say that the term cluster is now almost exclusively associated with Porter, notwithstanding the larger number of studies on related concepts by economic geographers and regional scientists. (For an interesting, although now somewhat dated analysis of studies on clusters, see van der Linde, 2002). Porter has advised numerous countries on clusters, including Kazakhstan (Porter 2005), and largely through his work, cluster analysis and development has blossomed in the policy area, with the World Bank, the OECD (Roeland and den Hertog, 1999, OECD 2005), the UN, and national governments all taking an active role. While most studies were initially undertaken for the advanced countries, cluster policies are also now being widely implemented in the developing countries. See, for example, Yusuf *et al.*, (2008), for a recent example of Asian clusters and USAID has advocated cluster policy for African countries (USAID, 2008).

The transition economies have also embraced the cluster approach. A recent OECD (2005) report on the transition countries contained cluster case studies for the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Slovenia, and Slovakia. Furthermore, cluster policy has also been undertaken by Russia (Romanova and Lavrikova, 2008) and Romania (Popa, *et al.*, 2007). Cluster initiatives have been enthusiastically adopted by the OECD Local Economic and Employment Development (LEED) Programme (OECD, 2005). In conjunction with Central European Initiative/European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, the LEED has undertaken analytical studies on clusters in the transition economies and forms a network for disseminating information about clusters and the best-practice techniques.

However, until recently, the CAREC countries have largely avoided adopting a cluster policy. The exception is Kazakhstan which has now based its development strategy, in principle if not yet in practice, largely on the cluster concept. This is indicated by the 2004 programme, *Diversification of Kazakhstan's Economy through Cluster Development in the Non-extraction Sectors of the Economy*. Kazakhstan is particularly concerned to diversify its economy away from its heavy dependence on oil production and has developed its cluster policy following the advice of Porter and the American consultants J.E. Austin Associates. ⁶

⁶ See Zabortseva (2009).

Kyrgyzstan is also moving in the direction of adopting a cluster-led development policy. As Musabaeva (2007) has noted, President Bakiev stated in 2007 that "Kyrgyzstan needs to orient itself to entering regional and world clusters, for the processing and realization of agricultural produce, rare minerals, communications, and tourist services". Musabaeva comments that "from the names of the Departments in the approved [in 2006] structure of the Centre for Economic Strategies under the Cabinet of the Kyrgyz Republic, it is clear that the development of economic clusters is offered as one of the key guiding lines of economic policy in the immediate future".⁷ In Uzbekistan, the Ministry of Economy is developing a legal framework to promote industrial clusters.

After some general comments on the importance of economic geography, we first discuss Porter's interpretation of the cluster. The concept of the cluster is usually considered in relation to manufacturing industry, but it has also been extended to cover services and, more narrowly, to technological clusters (Porter, 2003). One of its strengths, and also one of its weaknesses, is that the concept tends to be all encompassing. The spatial extent of a cluster can vary from very small clusters at the local economy level with employment measured in tens to those that cross national boundaries employing millions. As such, a cluster can take on many forms. As a recent OECD (2007, p.24) report notes, there is now a certain amount of "cluster fatigue" amongst some policy makers and academics. Nevertheless, work done by the OECD "demonstrates at both the national and regional level that the key concepts that underlie the cluster approach continue to be at the centre of policy formulation", even if the term cluster is not explicitly used (OECD, 2007, p. 24).

However, the role of the cluster in economic policy, and indeed, the very concept itself is a contentious issue (Martin and Sunley, 2003). This is notwithstanding the increasing importance that is being given to the role of space, distance, and density in economic growth. This chapter considers the role of these factors in economic growth, focusing especially on the cluster. The assessment of the usefulness of this approach is confined primarily to Kazakhstan, since, as noted above, this is the CAREC country which has developed this approach in the greatest detail. It is, however, likely that some of the other CAREC countries will follow Kazakhstan's lead, an in addition to Kyrgyzstan, the Ministry

⁷ In this approach Kyrgyzstan was following the lead of Russia and Kazakhstan. Musabaeva notes, however, Porter's advice to Kazakhstan drew criticism from among Kazakh economists who "considered certain suggestions of [Porter] simply inapplicable to Kazakhstan".

of Economy in Uzbekistan is developing a legal framework to promote industrial clusters and, as has been noted above, clusters have become a widely accepted method of promoting economic growth in many of the other transition economies including Russia, Hungary, Slovenia, Slovakia, Poland Hungary and the Czech Republic.

In contradistinction to the other transition economies, there are at present very few readily available published studies of clusters in the CAREC countries, either setting out the rationale for them within the local context or detailing the exact government proposals. Consequently, this report concentrates on Kazakhstan for the simple reason, as noted above, that it has gone furthest down this road. It cannot be taken as axiomatic that cluster policy as practiced by many governments is necessarily either coherent or has a firm analytical basis and this chapter will also consider these issues.

The chapter next briefly considers the theory underlying clusters, including the different types of agglomeration economies and the insights from, for example, the economic geographers, regional science and the neoclassical 'New Economic Geography'. The cluster is an essentially static concept, but we also consider it in a dynamic, or growth, context. It transpires that Porter has at the back of his mind some form of export-base theory and we show that there are indeed strong links between cluster theory and the Kaldorian regional growth model of cumulative causation.⁸ This includes at its core the Verdoorn law (the statistical relationship between labour productivity growth – or total factor productivity growth - and output growth that provides evidence of substantial increasing returns). The empirical evidence for the importance of increasing returns and the effect of density in explaining productivity differences is reviewed, but for reasons of space only briefly.

Four of the CAREC countries are heavily dependent on the production of energy (especially oil and gas) and natural resources such as cotton. These countries are Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Tajikistan and Uzbekistan (henceforth designated the AKTU countries). The question arises as to whether or not it is optimal to implement a resource-based cluster development strategy for these countries, especially in the light of the so-called "natural resource" curse. The chapter documents cases where this strategy has been successful in other, now developed, countries and examines the implications for the AKTU

⁸ The concept of "circular and cumulative causation" was first developed by Myrdal (1957).

countries.

As we have noted, cluster policy is only being discussed being implemented on a wide scale in one of CAREC countries, namely Kazakhstan. It is too early to form an assessment as to whether or not Kazakhstan cluster policy is likely to be a success and there is, at present, little readily available evidence as to the exact form of the policy. The chapter considers three areas where studies have been made, namely the energy cluster policy, innovation clusters and the agro-food cluster.

While cluster policy is widely adopted it is not without its critics. For example, one the one hand, it is shown that the use of cluster theory is far more problematic than many policymakers believe and may, in certain cases, be just a smokescreen for a "picking winners" industry policy. Indeed, one critic has gone so far as to comment that "cluster policies can even turn ugly when implemented by less than perfectly benevolent governments" (Duranton, 2008, p.1). On the other hand, there is no doubt of the importance of the spatial element in explaining economic growth. There is also a qualitative difference in the role of policy with respect to clusters between the developed countries and the transition (and developing) countries which must be taken into consideration.

The chapter ends by casting doubt on the use of cluster policy, *per se*, and briefly considers other possible development strategies.

2. Geography and Economic Development

Space is all around us and it matters for growth. Growth theory has come a long way since merely trying to account differences in the growth of productivity in terms of the rate of capital accumulation, human capital formation and technological change (or "ideas"). These are the proximate rates of growth and the question arises as to why these vary between countries producing such wide differences in productivity levels and growth rates. Three broad types of explanations are now considered that place *geography*, *institutions* and *integration* at the centre stage.

Geography includes the role of natural resources; especially the substantial reserves of oil and natural gas found in Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Tajikistan, Uzbekistan which, while

bringing the benefits of substantial economic rents, also raise the spectre of the "resources curse" and the "Dutch disease". This is reflected in the empirical evidence that many of the resource-rich developing and transition economies, *ceteris paribus*, perform worse in many development indicators than those with fewer natural advantages. Geography also has a direct impact through the location of the CAREC countries, especially their landlocked position and poor communications with the rest of the world. This has detrimental implications for their volume of trade, which is exacerbated by economic barriers to trade consisting of both tariffs and other administrative impediments (Asian Development Bank, 2006). Their historical ties with the Former Soviet Union have not helped as it distorted the direction of trade. This has led to the integration approach which emphasises the role of market integration and increased trade in promoting growth (see van der Ploeg, this volume). Again geography plays a role in the "problem of the commons" which has caused the Aral Sea to shrink to such an extent that it has altered the climate and seriously affected the local economies of the lands of the various countries bordering the sea (Markandya and Auty, 2006).⁹

When we move to a more explicitly spatial scale, we find that there are wide variations in the geographical *spread* and *density* of production. Of course, it has long been realized that this is true for the world as a whole – the top twenty nations with only 15% of the population produce over half of the world's output. As a corollary, the poorest half of the world's population account for only 14% of its production (Easterly and Levine, 2002).

But this is also reflected within any country at any level of development. If the area west of the Mississippi River in the US is considered, it is found that about half of the nation's GDP is produced on just 4 percent of the land area (Easterly and Levine, 2002).

⁹ There has been a largely fruitless debate between those who argue that geography is paramount in explaining the large per capita income disparities between countries and those who emphasise the role of institutions. The latter stress the importance of property rights, the transparency, and impartiality of the legal system etc., following the influential work on North (1999). (See Frankel and Romer, 1999; Acemogu *et al.*, 2001; Rodrick, *et al.* 2002). The approach is to regress income per capita measured in terms of PPP on proxies for institutions, geography (*viz.*, distance from the equator) and economic integration (such as the ratio of trade to GDP). We call it fruitless, because undoubtedly all are important and it does not seem meaningful even to attempt to quantify the percentage contribution of say, geography, in accounting for the disparities in per capita income (see Kenny and Williams (2001) for a detailed methodological critique of such Barro-type regressions.) The approach does, nevertheless, provide some insights that are of relevance to the CAREC countries. The weak institutions; geography (natural resources); landlocked nature of the countries and the lack of integration leading to relatively small home markets missing the benefits of agglomeration economies all affect their potential for growth.

Furthermore, rather like a fractal, this pattern of concentration repeats itself at smaller spatial scales. The state of New York is the most economically dense state in the US which is due to the extreme concentration of employment in New York City. Indeed, the city contains the densest county in the United States (New York County) as well as three of the next ten densest counties (Ciccone and Hall, 1996). Moreover, not only is the spatial distribution of economic activity within a country spatially concentrated, but it is also persistent. New York has been the largest US city for over a century (Kim and Margo 2004, p. 2994), the US manufacturing belt dominated industrial production within the country from the middle of the 19th century until recently (Krugman, 1991), and no new urban agglomeration has emerged in France since 1911 and no city that was (relatively) large has died (Eaton and Eckstein 1997, pp. 447-448). Once established, a dense agglomeration of economic activity tends to persist for a long period of time, so that a country's economic geography exhibits considerable inertia.

Within the Central Asian Economies, like in all countries, population and economic activity is spatially concentrated. Uzbekistan has a population of 27 million and is dominated by the capital city, Tashkent. The city has a population of just over 2 million and is over five times as large as the next largest city, Namangan. Kazakhstan, the second largest country in the region in terms of population (with about 25.5 million inhabitants) likewise has a highly skewed spatial distribution of population. Almaty, the former capital has a population of 1.3 million, over twice that of the second largest city, Astana, and is five times the size of the tenth largest city, Oral. ¹⁰

The cause of this concentration of population, and, by implication, economic activity is due to the importance of increasing returns to scale, broadly defined, in manufacturing and many other sectors. If all activities were subject to constant returns to scale, there would be what Krugman terms "backyard capitalism". With transport costs, production would be distributed more or less uniformly across space. While, apart from a few regional and other economists (notably Kaldor, 1972), the implications of increasing returns to scale has until recently been ignored by mainstream economists. However, this has changed since the mid-

¹⁰ In many countries, there is a well-defined relationship between the cities' sizes known as the rank size rule. This states that the population of a city is approximately equal to the size of the largest city divided by the rank of the city under consideration.

1980s,¹¹ leading one commentator to write of the "increasing returns to scale revolution" in economic theory (Warsh, 2006).

There has been a growing realization that space and distance matter, and theoretical models have long shown that cities and the densities of population and production (the latter being defined as output per unit area) will vary even on an isotropic plain (Christaller, 1933, Lösch, 1946). The fundamental reason is the prevalence of increasing returns in the production process. Increasing returns are broadly defined to include the traditional static and dynamic internal returns to scale, but perhaps of equal importance are the *agglomeration* economies that arise from spatial juxtaposition of firms. These are often categorised as arising from *localisation* economies, the external economies arising from the spatial concentration of firms in the same industry and *urbanisation* economies resulting from the clustering of different firms.

The importance of space for economic policy is emphasized in the 2009 World Development Report (2008), Reshaping Economic Geography. The first attribute of development is "geographical unevenness" and this implies that governments generally cannot maximise growth if they try to spread growth uniformly across the country. With increasing returns to scale, a second attribute is growth takes the form of a process of "circular and cumulative causation", to use Mrydal's (1957) term. As a region grows, increasing returns, broadly defined to include induced technical progress, mean that productivity growth increases, producing a positive feedback – "success breeds success". As growth increases, increasing returns lead to a faster growth of productivity. The benefits of this can either be passed on to the consumer in the form of lower relative prices, or the resulting increased profits can be used either for investment or R&D expenditure, or both. Likewise, a slowly growing region can be caught in a vicious circle of low output and productivity growth. This may initially lead to increasing spatial disparities "but market forces of agglomeration, migration, and specialisation can, if combined with progressive policies, yield both a concentration of economic production and convergence of living standards" (World Bank, 2008, p.2). Moreover, increasing diseconomies of density such as congestion costs and rising land rents may eventually lead to a diminution of the benefits of agglomeration.

¹¹ This can be dated from the publication of Romer (1986).

Finally, there are "*neighbourhood effects*" or economic spillovers. The principle of cumulative causation and the resulting virtuous and vicious circles of growth can make it difficult for the lagging regions to catch up. But, a policy that promotes economic integration can "harness the immediate benefits from concentration to achieve the long-term benefits of convergence" (World Bank, 2008, p.?) This is particularly germane to the CAREC countries, given the recent emphasis on the possibility of regional cooperation between these countries which is discussed later in this report.

The World Development Report (2008, p. 37) has epitomised this importance of space by the triumvirate of *density*, *distance*, and *division*.

- **Density** is the value of economic output per square kilometre and is highest in the largest cities. This (and the absolute size of output) reflects the importance of agglomeration economies.
- *Distance* measures the ease of reaching markets and areas far from economically dense centres are more likely to lag behind in their development.
- *Division* is most important in an international context and reflects the barriers to economic interaction caused by differences in currencies, politics, customs and language and is most important in an international context.

3. The Increasing Returns Revolution in Economic Theory

In fact, it is probably fair to say that there has been a major revolution in economic theory. For much of the last two hundred years, the emphasis with respect to the degree of returns to scale has been on constant returns to scale and the modelling of competitive general equilibrium. There have been exceptions, and indeed the opening sentences of Adam Smith's *Wealth of Nations* (1776) stressed the importance of increasing returns. Book I begins with the famous dictum, "The greatest improvement in the productive powers of labour, and the greater part of the skill, dexterity, and judgment with which it is anywhere directed, or applied, seem to have been the effects of the division of labour." Smith continued with the observation that the division of labour was limited by the "extent of the market". The greater the volume of production, the greater is the scope for the division of labour. But the "extent of the market" also has a spatial dimension – the same volume of production concentrated in a few square kilometers provides the opportunity for a greater

division of labour than if the same output produced is spread over several hundred square kilometers.

Yet ever since Ricardo's *Principles*, until recently. the assumption of constant returns to scale held sway.¹² Marshall was well aware of the possibility of downward sloping supply curves and multiple equilibria. The problem was that these were incompatible with perfect competition and would inevitably lead to monopoly. Consequently, as the economy was not dominated by monopolies, the discussion of this was banished to an appendix (Appendix H). Only external economies of scale that would not pose a threat to perfect competition were considered. It is somewhat ironical that these Marshallian economies of scale should later come to assume such importance in the cluster literature. The 1920s saw the celebrated "cost controversies" and Sraffa's (1926) paper which led to Robinson's (1933) *Economics of Imperfect Competition.*¹³ This showed how equilibrium on the downward sloping part of the average cost curve could occur without monopoly profits being made. Nevertheless this did not have much theoretical impact at the time.

Arrow (2000, p. 171) presented another reason for the persistence of the non-convexity assumption, arguing that the "history of competitive equilibrium is essentially *cumulative*" (emphasis in original). In other words, "each step depends in a fairly clear cut way on the work of predecessors." The development of equilibrium theory occurred in a linear fashion from Adam Smith (at least from Chapter IV, Book One, of the *Wealth of Nations*), through Ricardo, Menger, Jevons, Walras to Hicks, Koopmans, Arrow and Debreu. "Other aspects of perfectly competitive theory, such as the theory of demand, optimality theorems, and the relation between competitive equilibrium and bargaining outcomes, also have well-structured histories in which earlier work influenced the later work which subsumed it" (Arrow, 2000, p.172). The perfectively competitive equilibrium paradigm was logically self consistent and, at the theoretical level, was replete with Kuhnian "puzzles" to solve.

In terms of macroeconomics and growth theory, in particular, constant returns, together with the marginal productivity theory, was a crucial assumption of the seminal Solow

¹² There were, of course, exceptions. Hamilton, the first US Secretary to the Treasury, used the concept of increasing returns to justify protectionist policies in 1794 that were unsuccessful. Frederick List (1841) was influenced by Hamilton and made a similar argument in favour of protectionism in the early stages of industrialization.
¹³Edward Chamberlain's (1993) *Monopolistic Competition* which covered much the same area was

¹³Edward Chamberlain's (1993) *Monopolistic Competition* which covered much the same area was published in the same year.

model (Solow, 1956, 1957, 2000). From the late 1950s until 1986 this approach was extended to, for example, two-sector, vintage capital, and optimal growth models. The growth accounting approach attempted to whittle down the Solow residual (loosely interpreted as technical change, which Solow found accounted for about 80 percent of the US growth over the first half of the 20th Century). This used the aggregate production function and again the assumption of constant returns to scale (Jorgenson and Griliches, 1967).¹⁴ 1986 saw the development of the first growth model which endogenised technical change and introduced substantial increasing returns into growth theory (Romer, 1986).¹⁵ However, it should be said that some still find the assumption of constant returns to scale in the Solow model, augmented by human capital to be convincing (Mankiw, *et al.* 1992, and Mankiw 1995.)

In other areas, especially international trade and the new economic geography, it was not until an economic theory was developed that could handle increasing returns within an equilibrium framework that the assumption was widely adopted. Of particular importance was the Dixit-Stiglitz (1997) model, essentially a mathematical formalisation of the Robinson (1933) and Chamberlin (1933) imperfect competition model. It was this, rather than any new empirical evidence that increasing returns were important, that led to the intellectual revolution in trade theory and the New Economic Geography.

Indeed, the prevalence of increasing returns had for a very long time been seen to be selfevident in regional economics (Hoover *et al.* (1948). See van Oort and McCann (2009) for a good discussion.) The early work by Weber (1909) on location theory showed how firms located, given an exogenously determined source of raw materials, a fixed market and transport costs. This also included a discussion of agglomeration economies. Lösch (1946) showed how, even on a featureless plain, increasing returns and transport costs could give rise to a concentration of firms (cities). Christaller (1933) used economies of scale in retailing and distribution to give a model that could also generate an urban hierarchy of city sizes. This was later shown to follow the frequently observed rank size rule (Beckmann, 1958). Work on cities as generating new ideas was undertaken by Vernon (1960) and Chinitz (1961).

¹⁴ Denison (1967) was another pioneer in this field, but pragmatically he allowed for the contribution of increasing returns to scale at the expense of theoretical purity.

¹⁵ There had been previous attempts but except under implausible assumptions, only a Cobb Douglas production function was compatible with steady state growth (Conlisk, 1968).

It was the seminal work of Krugman (1991a, 1991b) that brought space and location back into mainstream (neoclassical) economics by developing formal optimising general equilibrium models to study agglomeration economies, the location of firms and the formation of cities. Since the publication of these papers there has been an explosion of theoretical and empirical work within this framework of what has come to be known as the "New Economic Geography".¹⁶ For good introductory surveys of the New Economic Geography, see Krugman (1998, 2000) and Simonis (2002). Neary (2001) presents a more critical survey.

The key aspects of this approach are the presence of increasing returns and transport costs. For simplicity, the early models took increasing returns to be internal to the firm. The larger the market size, as partly determined by backward and forward linkages, the greater the scope for reaping the benefits of increasing returns to scale (the "home market" effect). In order to minimize transport costs, a firm will locate where the local demand is greatest. If, for historical reasons firms concentrate at a specific location, other firms will also be attracted there because of the existing demand and so there will be a positive feedback effect, leading to a process of circular and cumulative causation. Once a city is established for whatever reason, there are powerful forces that will prevent it declining.¹⁷ In this sense, history matters.

Suppose we have two regions. With high transport costs it will pay firms to have plants in both locations. But if transport costs are low, it will be optimal for firms to locate in one location to reap the benefits of increasing returns and to ship their products from there to satisfy the demand in the other region. Krugman (2009) has presented the simplest model possible ("a sort of model of the model") to explain these processes. Suppose that there are two regions and a single producer has fixed sales of S_1 and S_2 in each of the two markets, where $S_1 > S_2$. Transport costs per unit output are *t*. The producer can have either one plant in region 1 or two plants, one in each region. If a second plant is opened in region 2, it saves on the transport costs (i.e., tS_2) but, by assumption, incurs a fixed cost *F*. (This is

¹⁶ The pace of development has been so fast that the leading textbook on the subject is now into its second edition (Brakman *et al.*, 2009).

¹⁷ It is, of courser, recognised that a geographical concentration will be limited by the centrifugal forces of factor immobility, rising land rents, increasing congestion costs etc. (see Krugman, 1998b).

where the increasing returns come from.) It will only open the second plant if $F < tS_2$. If $F > tS_2$, it will pay the producer to concentrate all the firm's operations in region 1.

Suppose now that there are two symmetric regions and there are a number of manufacturing firms (which are footloose, as are their factors of production) which produce a share μ of total sales, *S*. There is an agricultural sector which is regionally fixed, as are its factors of production. If the manufacturing firms all locate in one region, the smaller region will demand $S(1-\mu)/2$. Thus, if $F > tS(1-\mu)/2$, production will be concentrated in one region. It can be seen that production will be concentrated in one location, the higher are transport costs, the greater is the share in output of footloose industries, and the greater are the economies of scale. Which of the two regions the footloose industries locate in may be purely a matter of historical accident.

As has been noted, the crucial breakthrough in modelling increasing returns to scale within an equilibrium framework was the Dixit-Stiglitz (1977) model which introduced a utility function where the arguments were a variety of separate goods. Many years ago, Robinson (1933) and Chamberlin (1933) had shown how it was possible to incorporate increasing returns into an equilibrium model by assuming a variety of goods that were close, but not perfect substitutes, i.e., by introducing product differentiation. With a single firm making one particular variety, and with free entry, equilibrium with no abnormal profits would occur where the downward sloping demand curve for the good was tangential to the downward sloping long-run average cost curve. The Dixit-Stiglitz approach allowed this to be formally modelled and so market structure, the elasticity of demand, etc., could be included in the approach and applied to economic geography.

For our purposes here, the importance of the New Economic Geography is that it explains why firms 'cluster', namely because of the importance of increasing returns to scale.¹⁸

¹⁸ The new economic geography has not been without its critics. Martin (1999) sees it merely a continuation of the old regional science models, which economic geographers had long ago discarded as an inadequate paradigm. The formal mathematical nature of the new economic geography means that it has to ignore those socioeconomic and institutional factors that economic geographers now consider to be important in explaining the performance and diversity of cities and regions. Brakman *et al.*, (2003) are more sanguine.

3.1 Sources of Increasing Returns to Scale

Two major sources of increasing returns have been identified in the literature and in a spatial context may be traced back to the early work of Hoover and Giarranti (1948). (See Table 1). The first arises from *internal economies of scale*. These are either static or dynamic in nature. The former are increasing returns that occur as the size or scale of the firm or plant increases. The most common source is indivisibilities or fixed costs of some description and as production increases, so these costs are spread over a larger number of units of output. Dynamic returns to scale are those such as learning-by-doing, where costs fall as a function of cumulative output. The classic example is the production of airframes during the war (Wright, 1953), where productivity rose steadily, even though no new technology had been introduced. This was simply as a result of the experience gained in the methods of assembly. The gains are also a decreasing function of the rate of production, since it also takes time to acquire experience.

The other major source is due to *agglomeration economies* and their distinctive feature is that they are external to the individual firms. They arise as the density of production (defined as output per unit area) and the size of the urban area increases. Note that these are not the same. It is possible to have a very high density of production but where the total output is low and a low density of production but a high volume of total production as it occurs in a large sprawling urban area.¹⁹ These external economies of scale are subdivided into *localization economies*, which arise from the concentration of firms in the same or similar industry, and *urbanisation economies* which occur when disparate firms are in close spatial proximity.

It was Marshall (1922) who provided the seminal discussion of external economies of scale in his well-known chapter concerning the "the concentration of specialised industries in particular localities". He advanced three causes, although he did not explicitly make the distinction between localization and urbanisation economies of scale. First, there are knowledge spillovers where the close proximity of firms would lead to a rapid inter-firm diffusion of innovations. As Marshall put it: "The mysteries of the trade become no mysteries; but are as it were in the air. ... If one man starts a new idea, it is taken up by others and combined with suggestions of their own; and thus becomes the source of further

¹⁹ These are sometimes treated as synonymous (e.g., World Bank, 2008).

Type of econom	ny of scale			Example
Internal	1. Pecuniary			Being able to purchase intermediate
				inputs at volume discounts
			2. Static	Falling average costs due to fixed costs
	Technological		technological	of operating a plant
	C		3. Dynamic	Learning to operate a plant more
			technological	Share and attracted to allow when
External, or Agglomeration	Localization	Static	4. "Shopping"	shoppers are attracted to places where there are many sellers
			5. "Adam Smith" or Allwyn Young (EJ, 1928) specialisation	Outsourcing allows both the upstream input suppliers and downstream firms to profit from productivity gains due to specialisation
			6. "Marshall" labour pooling	Workers with industry-specific skills are attracted to a location where there is a greater concentration of the relevant industry. A worker is more likely to be able to find a new job in the same industry if their employer experiences a downturn of fortunes. An individual firm also benefits by being better able to hire labour when experiencing an upturn in fortunes, especially if it coincides with a downturn for other firms.
		Dynamic	7. "Marshall- Arrow-Romer" learning by doing	Reductions in costs that arise from repeated and continuous production activity over time and which spillover between firms in close proximity
	Urbanisation	Static	8. "Jane Jacobs" innovation	The greater is the diversity of the local economy, the more opportunities there are for observing and adapting ideas from others
			9. "Marshall" labour pooling	Workers in an industry bring innovations to firms in other industries; similar to no. 6, but the benefit arises from the diversity of industries in one location.
			10. "Adam Smith" division of labour	Similar to no. 5 above, the main difference being that the division of labour upstream is made possible by the existence of many different downstream buying industries in the same place
		Dynamic	11. "Romer" endogenous growth	The larger the market, the higher the profit, the more attractive the location to firms, the more jobs there are, the more labour pools there are, the larger the market—and so on
	12. "Pure" agglomeration			Spreading fixed costs of infrastructure over more taxpayers; diseconomies arise from congestion and pollution

Table 1 A Tax	konomy of Incre	easing Returns	to Scale
---------------	-----------------	----------------	----------

Source: World Bank (2008, p. 128) Adapted from Maureen Kilkenny (2006).

new ideas." Same industry or localization spillovers are sometimes known as Marshall-Arrow-Romer (MAR) externalities. The last two are a reference to Arrow's (1962) learning-by-doing model and Romer's (1986) "linear-in-K" model. Productivity gains from the induced technical change described in these models can spillover to similar firms in the neighbourhood, but the impact decreases with increasing distance from the source.

Second, there are the gains in productivity from the concentration and specialisation of suppliers. Suppliers would be able to specialize to a greater extent than if there were only a few firms in the locality and smaller output. These producers of intermediate goods would thereby benefit from the gains of the division of labour. Third, there are the benefits of labour market pooling whereby firms can benefit from a large labour force with the special skills they require.

As may be seen from Table 1 these external increasing returns may give rise to both localization and urbanisation economies. Chinitz (1961) was one of the first to emphasise the importance of the diversity of production, rather than specialisation. He considered that Pittsburgh had suffered because of its monolithic production structure. However, it is Jane Jacobs (1961, 1969) with whom the concept of urbanisation economies are most associated. She emphasised the role of the diversity of activity in a city in promoting innovation and growth. Urbanisation economies, consequently, are sometimes known as Jacobs's externalities. Benefits of labour market pooling can also arise from a wide variety of different industries in a single city since the extent to which the fluctuations in demand for their output are uncorrelated, this will lead to a more stable level of aggregate demand for labour.

3.2 Increasing Returns: The Empirical Evidence

It is a paradox that many early estimates of aggregate production functions using crosscountry data found either very small or constant returns to scale. In the 1930s Paul Douglas and his colleagues in numerous regression studies estimated the Cobb-Douglas production function using cross-industry and cross-regional data and found a very close correspondence between the estimated output elasticities and the factor shares (See Douglas, 1976, for a summary. Douglas took this as not refuting the hypothesis of competitive markets and disproving the Marxian notion of labour exploitation.) Moreover,

20

this was subsequently confirmed by detailed work by Hildebrand and Liu (1957), and Moroney (1972), at the industry level using cross-regional data and Griliches and Ringstad (1971) likewise using cross-industry data. Consequently, it may be for this reason that the assumption of constant returns to scale lasted so long in aggregate growth models.

Nevertheless, McCombie and Roberts (2007) prove that this result can be attributed to spatial aggregation bias. They do this is the context of the Verdoorn law which is discussed below, but the results follow through for conventional production functions. Essentially, their argument is to suppose that the economic spatial unit of measurement is what might be termed the *functional economic area* (which may be a function of journey to work areas) and which is smaller than the smallest spatial unit of observation for which the data is available, e.g., the state or region. If the data of the functional economic areas are summed arithmetically to give the "state" data, this will impart a substantial basis towards constant returns to scale.

Prima facie evidence of the importance of clusters is the fact that US industries are not located randomly across the country, but tend to be spatially concentrated. Krugman (1991) calculated an index of regional specialisation and found that it was not just the high–tech industries that were concentrated, but also the more traditional industries. Ellison and Glaeser (1997) adopt a more formal approach and compare the distribution of industries against a benchmark of a distribution arising if the industries had been distributed at random, i.e., if their location had been determined by throwing darts at a dartboard. They find that 446 out of 459 four-digit SIC industries display excess concentration, but "while there are a number of industries that look like Silicon Valley or the auto industry, it is much more common for industries to be only very slightly concentrated." (Ellison and Glaeser, 1997, p.891).

In a follow-up paper, they attempt to determine how much of the concentration is due to 'natural advantage', such as the wine industry will naturally be affected by climatic conditions. They come to the conclusion that about 20 percent of the observed geographic concentration can be explained by a small set of natural advantages and, more realistically, the figure is likely to be nearer one-half. Nevertheless, "there remain a large number of highly concentrated industries where it seems that agglomeration must be explained by localized intraindustry spillovers. Simple cost differences cannot explain why the fur industry, the most agglomerated industry in our sample, is centred in New York," (Ellison and Glaeser, 1999, p.316.) In fact, this evidence will underestimate the importance of

clustering as it merely looks at the concentration of firms within one narrowly defined (4digit SIC) industry and this will capture only localization economies. But as Porter has shown, clusters also consist of firms that are from a variety of industries that may be in someway linked in the production process and benefit from urbanisation economies.

It is interesting to note that Krugman, (2008) in his Nobel Prize acceptance speech paradoxically notes that the world might be becoming more classical in that regional specialisation in manufacturing in the US has been steadily decreasing since the 1930s (Kim, 1998). Nevertheless, Brulhart and Sbergami (2008) find evidence that urbanisation provides an impetus for growth until per capita income level of countries such as Brazil or Bulgaria are reached. So the extent to which clusters are associated with urbanisation, the former are especially important for the developing and transition economies.

Rosenthal and Strange (2009) give a detailed overview of the methods that have been used to estimate the size of agglomeration economies and survey the various key studies up to 2003. It must be born in mind that much of the evidence comes from the developed countries. Glaeser (2003) provides an introduction to urban and regional growth which touches on agglomeration economies and the use of the aggregate production function to measure them. Chapter 4 of the World Bank (2008) presents a more discursive overview of the now substantial empirical evidence for scale and agglomeration economies. All three studies suggest that there is wide variety of methods of estimating agglomeration economies (including estimating separately the degree of urbanization and localization economies). It will come as no surprise that the exact results are dependent on the exact method used. But, generally speaking, the evidence suggests that these external economies are important, even though the estimates differ between studies.

Turning first to *internal economies of scale*, a survey of the literature suggests that these are insubstantial in light industries, whereas they are large in the heavy and high-tech manufacturing industries (see World Bank, Table 4.2, p. 130). There is also evidence that internal increasing returns to scale are found in services, including electric power and banking and finance.

Localization economies, as has been noted, result from the spatial clustering of firms linked by the technology they use, the markets they serve, the products and services they provide and the skills they require. These are the type of economies that Porter emphasizes and also result from increased competitive pressures. The evidence put forward by the World Bank is the case study of the U.S. hosiery industry which moved south after the Second World War from New York. "The localization of the yarn and hosiery industry in North Carolina is a powerful manifestation of intra-industry external economies" (World Bank, 2008, p. 131). There is also substantial evidence that doubling city size will, through urbanization economies. increase productivity by about 3-8 per cent, although some earlier studies found much larger increases (Rosenthal and Strange, 2003, p. 12). "In the Republic of Korea, a plant in a city with 1,000 workers could, without altering its input mix, increase output by 20-25 percent simply by relocating to a city that has 15,000 workers in the same industry" (World Bank, 2008, p.135.) Furthermore, productivity tends to fall with distance from the centre of a dense metropolitan city, with evidence suggesting a doubling of the distance will reduce productivity by some 15 percent (World Bank, 2008, p.135).

Generally speaking the evidence seems to be more favourable to the importance of localization economies rather than urbanization economies, but the evidence is not conclusive. But all the surveys leave little doubt for the importance of agglomeration economies, *per se*.

4. Clusters and Regional Development

The notion of the cluster, especially in the policy arena, is often almost synonymous with the worker of Porter. Porter developed the notion of a cluster from his work on *The Competitive Advantage of Nations* (1990).²⁰ From detailed case studies around the world, he found that firms from one or two nations with surprising regularity come to dominate a world industry. This led him to develop his theory of industry clusters, and from here it was a short step to give this a spatial dimension. Porter defines a cluster as follows.

"Clusters are geographic concentrations of interconnected companies, specialist suppliers and service providers, firms in related industries, and associated associations (e.g. universities, standards agencies and

²⁰ Porter, somewhat confusingly, equates competitiveness with productivity. However, countries with relatively low productivity, such as China, can be highly competitive in world markets if the relatively low productivity is more than offset by relatively low wages (and other costs).

trade associations) in particular fields that compete but also cooperate." (Porter, 2000, p. 253)

The key words are "geographic" and "cooperate". While all firms have upstream and downstream linkages, the emphasis of Porter is on the spatial dimension and the benefits that geographical proximity brings. Also, while competition generally increases efficiency, in a global economy, cooperation between firms within a cluster can be as equally important in giving a cluster a competitive advantage.

Not only then does the literature on agglomeration economies discussed above, give both empirical and theoretical support to the notion of clusters, but they are ubiquitous:

Some clusters centre on research universities, while others draw little on the resources of formal technological institutions. Clusters occur both in high tech and traditional industries, in manufacturing as well as service industries. Indeed, clusters often mix high tech, low technique, manufacturing and services. Some regions contain a single dominant cluster, while others contain several. Clusters appear in both developing and advanced economies, although the lack of depth of clusters in developing nations is a characteristic constraint to development.

In a similar definition to the one above, he adds the rider "linked by externalities of various types" (Porter 2003, p. 562.) Firms benefit by being in close spatial proximity and these advantages result from external economies of scale and spillovers – "The presence of clusters suggests that much of competitive advantage lies outside a given company or even outside its industry, residing instead in the locations of its business units" (Porter 2000, p.254).

The geographic size of a cluster can vary "from a single city or state to a country or even a group of countries." (Porter, 2000, p.254). But there is no consensus over what exactly a cluster is and indeed Porter has a very broad definition.²¹ It can include a core industry,

²¹ In an influential article, Markusen (1996) posed the question as to why, with high regional capital mobility, some regions attracted proportionally more investment than others. She found that the role of the government at the national and regional level was important as well as that of the multinational corporations. She devised a classification consisting of the Hub and Spoke District, the Satellite Industrial Platform and the State-centred District. In Hub and Spoke District production is located around a number of large corporations, either in one or in several industries. In the Satellite Industrial Platform, there are spin-off firms from multinational corporations often with public subsidies. In the State Centred District, regional production is linked to government investment broadly defined (OECD, 2005, p.23).

together with the downstream industries (industries which process the output to give an end product), upstream industries (industries which supply inputs and services). But the list does not stop there. It includes "firms in related industries", financial institutions, specialized infrastructure providers, institutions, such as those providing education, information, technical support and even "standard-setting agencies (although these would seem to have national rather than a local influence). Even government institutions that influence the performance of a cluster and organizations such as trade associations can be considered members of a cluster.

When account is taken of other studies on spatial agglomeration, it is not surprising that there is certain vagueness as to what is precisely a cluster. Martin and Sunley (2003, Table 1, p.13), for example, in a highly critical article on the notion of clusters, enumerate ten different definitions, although there is a high degree of overlap between them. Moreover, they argue that Porter's concept is just a 'branding' of detailed empirical and theoretical work carried out by economic geographers in the broad area of industrial districts, agglomeration economies, etc. with little value added. This is not, of course, to say that the location of firms and industry in close proximity is not of great importance in understanding the determinants of productivity. It is just the confusion the term engenders. Moreover, at times, a cluster is simply taken to be synonymous with an industry, regardless of its location.²²As Gordon and McCann note (2000, p. 515) point out, "there has been a tendency to use terms such as 'agglomeration', 'clusters', 'new industrial areas', 'embeddedness', 'milieux' more or less interchangeably, with little concern for questions of operationalisation, which are actually far from straightforward, and should be different for each."

Pioneering early studies include what is often taken to be the exemplars of Silicon Valley, (Scott, 1993, Saxenian, 1994) and the clothing industry in northern Italy (Poire and Sable, 1984). Porter's emphasis on the relationships between firms in a cluster is mainly on the economic derived benefits. However, there is also a large interest in the sociology literature in clusters, broadly defined, and the individual and the embedded social networks. Much of the literature is again focused on the advanced countries and the way diffusion of

²² For example, Zeng (2008) contains a number of studies of African clusters, but some such as the textile and clothing sector in Mauritius or the wine cluster in South Africa have no explicit geographical basis save that they are located in a particular country.

innovations is enhanced by clustering. This is often discussed within the framework of what has been called "national innovation systems."

One of the key questions that we shall address later is how important a policy priority should the notion of clustering be in the transition economies, in the light of the many other urgent development problems that they have. While there may be benefits, should it be central to their development strategy? Is just cluster policy simply a disguise for an industrial policy for "picking winners". To the extent that clusters develop naturally through the actions of the market participants, can government policy actually improve on this? Indeed, the problems of the lagging regions in developed countries and their relationship with their more advanced regions are likely to be very different to the problems in the CAREC where all the regions are struggling.

As we noted above, there have been many other definitions of the cluster, often differing depending upon whether they are seen as an analytical or policy tool. All definitions emphasise the notion that proximity to other firms brings both cost and productivity advantages that would not otherwise have existed. Some, like Porter's definition, emphasises geographical distance but others stress technological distance, skill distances, or social distances. Nevertheless, the fact that industries cluster in cities has meant that the definition of spatial clustering is the one most commonly used.²³

The cluster encompasses a large typology, from broad industries at the state or metropolitan area (e.g. the wine industry in California or the apparel industry in North Carolina) through to very much more narrowly defined industry concentrated in a neighbourhood (such as the garment industry in New York City). Just as the industrial composition of a cluster can vary, so can its spatial extent. "The geographic scope of a cluster can range from a single city or state to a country *or even a group neighbouring countries*" (Porter, 2000, emphasis added).

²³ Gordon and McCann (2000) go further and argue that there are three types of clusters, two which have developed from the neoclassical economics concepts of *pure agglomeration* and the *industrial-complex model*. The third, the *social-network* or club definition, was developed predominantly within the sociology tradition. "Social networks of certain strong interpersonal relationships can transcend firm boundaries, with the result that many interfirm social interactions may be stronger than their intrafirm counterparts" (Gordon and McCann, 2000, p.520). Porter's definition of a cluster encompasses all these.

4.1 Clusters and Spatial Growth

The theory of clusters is essentially a static theory, explaining the relationship between the spatial concentration, density of output and the level of productivity. To the extent that clusters enhance the rate of innovation, they can temporarily increase productivity growth in the less technically advanced clusters.²⁴ They cannot, of course, explain the rate of technical advance in the technologically leading clusters. The Schumpeterian endogenous growth models provide such an explanation (Jones, 2002). In this section, we shall show how Porter's notion of the cluster can be seen as providing the micro foundations for the Myrdal/Kaldor (Myrdal, 1957, Kaldor 1970) cumulative causation model of regional economic growth.

It is worth initially noting that Porter also has a somewhat simple 'stages' theory of economic development.²⁵ In the early stages, a region is a 'factor-driven economy', where low input costs are the key.²⁶ As development occurs, this progresses to an 'investment-driven economy', where productivity increases occur through heavy investment. The last stage is the 'innovation-driven economy', where the cluster creates high quality and unique products and services.

Porter (2003) provides the foundations for a cluster-based regional growth theory. He identifies three types of industries. The first type is the *local*, or predominantly service, industries (Porter, 2003, p. 559). The distribution of employment in these industries (which includes, for example, retailing and wholesaling) is roughly proportional to the population of a region. The second type of industry, which in the advanced countries is declining in importance, is that which is *resource* dependent, such as oil or logging. These serve global markets and are spatially distributed according to the location of the natural resources. (We shall see, however, that they are particularly important for Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan – the AKTU countries.) Finally, there are the key industries of growth which are the *traded* industries that are footloose. These serve both the home market and, more importantly, markets in other regions and overseas and have strong

²⁴ This will also depend upon the ability of the cluster to use the new technology which will be a function of the social capability (Abramovitz, 1986) of the cluster which many factors including the level of skills.

²⁵ This is somewhat reminiscent of Rostow's (1960) Stages of Economic Growth.

²⁶ The CAREC countries fall into this category.

cluster effects. As we shall see, it is the performance of the export sector that determines the overall growth of the region.

In order to determine empirically what constitutes a cluster, the method of "cluster mapping" is used by Porter (see, for example, Porter 2001).²⁷ First, a region's traded and local industries are determined using the traditional location quotient approach, together with the use of an employment Gini coefficient. In the US, the vast majority of the goods industries were classified as traded. Overall, 32% of employment was in the traded industries and 67% in local industries. Industries dependent upon natural resources consisted of less than one percent of the total. At the regional level, the traded goods industries are seen as the drivers of regional growth because wages in the local sector were only 66 per cent of those in the traded sector. Moreover, traded industries have higher growth of wages, higher productivity, and higher levels of patenting than the service industries and there is a statistically significant relationship between the wages in the traded and non-traded industries.

Having established the empirical importance of the traded goods sector,²⁸ Porter then establishes the extent of clustering. In the US, with its availability of regional and city statistics, Porter used the locational correlation of employment to determine clusters. For example, if computer hardware employment is always associated geographically with software employment, this provides a strong indication of locational linkages" (Porter 2003, p.563).

Porter identified about 41 traded clusters in the US with an average of about 29 industries in each cluster, with each industry being on average a member of two clusters. Further subclusters were identified within each cluster and clusters include both manufacturing and service industries. "Clusters, then, represent a different way of dividing the economy than is embodied in conventional industrial classification systems that are based primarily on product type and similarities in production" (2003, p. 563). Average wages, productivity

²⁷ Cortright (2006, p.28) terms this quantitative approach the "top-down" approach to identifying clusters. The "bottom-up approach" relies is more qualitative, relying on case studies, interviews and primary data. However, as Cortright (p.29) points out, these alternative methods can worryingly lead to very different classification results for the same cluster, as evidenced by Porter's 1998 and 2003 studies of the California wine cluster, which give "dramatically different" results.

²⁸ It should be noted that the size of the traded goods sector is scale dependent; the world exports nothing and the individual nearly everything. (See the interchange between North, 19555, 1956 and Tiebout, 1956).

and patenting per worker are all higher in the traded than non-traded (service) industries, and the former are more concentrated than the latter. Although much of the literature on clusters in the advanced countries concerns the high-tech industries, they form less than 3 percent of total private employment in the US. Patenting rates vary considerably across industries and, hence, across clusters.²⁹

Perhaps most importantly, differences in a region's level of wages and productivity are not due to it having a higher proportion of clusters with higher productivity. Rather the cause is that *all* the clusters in the region tend to have higher productivity. "This finding carries important implications of economic development. Many regional economic development initiatives focus heavily on shifting the mix to more 'desirable' clusters. An equally if not more important policy focus is to upgrade the productivity of *all* clusters in which the region has a meaningful position" (Porter, 2003, p.568, emphasis in the original). Theoretical support for this proposition is provided by Rodríguez-Clare (2005) who uses a Ricardian model to show that import substitution policies to develop clusters in new advanced sectors are inappropriate. Rather clusters should be promoted in those sectors which have the strongest comparative advantage, which are most likely to be the existing clusters. The tenet of Porter's Cluster theory is that first, productivity does not depend on what industries a region competes in, but the efficiency with which it competes. Secondly, the impact of initial endowments or natural resources is diminishing, at least in the advanced countries.³⁰ Consequently, "the most important sources of prosperity are *created* not inherited" (Porter, 2001. p. x). A cluster initiative is not, Porter claims, a case of a disguised form of an industry strategy or of "picking winners". In other words, "there are no low-tech industries, only low-tech firms" (Porter, 2001, p.7). We shall return to this important policy consideration below.³¹

²⁹ However, there is convincing evidence that patents are a poor indicator of inventive activity and there is no evidence that those industries with the largest number of patents also have the greatest rate of profit. (See Boooz Allen Hamilton's annual study of the world's 10000 largest corporate R&D, for example, "Smart Spenders: The Global Innovation 1000", *Strategy and Business*, vol. 45, 2006.) The familiar argument that patents are better than nothing as a measure of invention is not convincing.

³⁰ For example, the Hecksher-Ohlin model which predicts that capital-rich regions should export goods which use capital-intensive methods of production is not particularly helpful in devising a development strategy.

³¹ For example, Porter argued that the South Carolina's economic strategy "emphasizing its abundant and flexible workforce, good physical infrastructure and responsive government in order to attract manufacturing" was misguided. What was required was a new approach emphasising innovation and cluster development (Woodward, 2004, p.2). However, Woodward argues that Porter's specific advice has, in fact, not avoided simply being a form of industrial targeting. "Most policy makers in

4.2 Clusters and the Cumulative Causation Model of Growth

Although the theoretical model underlying this analysis is not spelt out by Porter, it is reminiscent of the export-base model where the level of total employment (or output) is determined by the level of exports, through the export-base multiplier.³² The model may be expressed in terms of growth rates to explain growth rate disparities and has been extended in a more sophisticated Keynesian model to take account of the regional balance-of-payments constraint (Thirlwall, 1980). Thus, the crucial determinant of growth is the traded-goods sector and the clusters that affect its competitiveness.

In the cumulative causation model of regional growth, a key relationship is the Verdoorn law. In its simplest for this is a relationship between the growth of industrial productivity (p) and output (q) and takes the form p = a + bq, where b is the 'Verdoorn coefficient' and generally takes a value of around one-half. Thus, a one percentage point increase in output growth is assumed to *cause* an increase in productivity growth by one half because of increasing returns, broadly defined to include induced technical change, through, for example, learning by doing (Arrow, 1962). Kaldor (1966), following Young (1928), argued that these returns to scale were also due to increased division of labour and thus occurred at the industry rather than the firm level. In turn, Young draws heavily on Adam Smith's dictum that the degree of the division of labour is limited by the extent of the market. This has obvious similarities to cluster externalities, especially if we interpret the extent of the market in terms of its spatial extent. Thus, the law will be picking up the impact of agglomeration economies. The Verdoorn law is a deceptively simple relationship and there is now a considerable literature on, for example, the econometric problems (endogeneity and associate simultaneous equation bias), specification errors (the omission of the capital stock and the effect of the diffusion of innovations). These will not be

South Carolina, for example, believed that Porter's analysis was designed to identify clusters to target for development. 'All clusters matter' does not appear to be a strategy" (Woodward, 2004, p.11). First, Porter argues that *traded* clusters are more important for development than *non-traded* clusters. Secondly, Porter makes use of a standard four-quadrant diagram in his analysis of a region's cluster where the north-east quadrant identifies those clusters which have both the largest share of national cluster employment in a given year and the largest percentage change of share over a specific period. (See, for example, Porter (2001, p.21 Exhibit 13). These are used to determine a region's competitive strengths.

³² See North (1955) for an early version of this model and Tiebout (1956) for a critique and North (1956) for a rejoinder. The export-base model is explained in more detail in, for example, Armstrong and Taylor (2000).

discussed here,³³ but it is sufficient to say that the main result of the importance of substantial increasing returns have been confirmed by many studies.

Angeriz *et al.*, (2008) tested the law for the EU regions over the period 1986-2001, within a spatial econometric framework. The Verdoorn law was augmented to take into account that growth of the capital stock by regressing the growth of total factor productivity (rather than labour productivity growth) on output growth.³⁴ Additional explanatory variables that were included were the initial level of total factor productivity (to capture the diffusion of innovations), and the density of production to capture dynamic agglomeration economies (Baldwin and Martin, 2004). The results are instructive. A Verdoorn coefficient of 0.673 gives an estimate of "encompassing" returns to scale, including induced technical change, of just over 3. There was no statistically significant growth of exogenous total factor productivity (which may be roughly regarded as the rate of technical change).

There is a statistically significant diffusion of innovations, given by the negative coefficient on the logarithm of the initial total factor productivity (a proxy for the level of technology in the region) and the density of production also has a pronounced effect on TFP growth.

One of the problems with cluster analysis is the lack of empirical data on the importance of externalities, which "is understandable since knowledge [and other] spillovers are difficult if not impossible to measure directly" (Porter, 2003, p.562). The spatial econometric approach sheds some interesting light on this. The model includes as regressors, the growth of the surrounding regions' output as well as the level of their density. These both proved to be statistically significant, suggesting that spillover effects are important. Consequently, these results provide econometric support that space and proximity are important for the understanding of growth, although the exact mechanism of the spillover effect is uncertain.^{35. 36} It is here that the cluster literature is instructive.

³³ See McCombie *et al.*, (2002) for a comprehensive discussion.

³⁴ The absence of this from the original Verdoorn law is a shortcoming, as productivity growth could also be due to a growth in the capital-labour ratio. The original Verdoorn law implicitly takes this into account by assuming the stylized fact that there is no growth in the capital-output ratio.

³⁵ It should be noted that spatial correlation could arise from the use of administrative rather than economic regions.

³⁶ Unfortunately, at present data limitations preclude the estimation of the augmented Verdoorn law for the CAREC countries.

Once an allowance is made for increasing returns to scale, a positive feedback is introduced into the growth process, which gives rise to the circular and cumulative causation nature of growth. A faster rate of growth, through increasing the rate of productivity gives a region a relative advantage over slower growing regions. The faster growth of productivity can be passed on in the form of a relative improvement of the region's prices (assuming all the benefits are not fully passed on in the form of higher wages) or the resulting increased profits can be ploughed back into R&D and product improvement, again increasing the demand for the region's output. The canonical formalisation of this model is by Dixon and Thirlwall (1975). It is essentially a demand-oriented model, on the assumption that in a regional context a fast growing region will induce either labour or capital or both and so as a first approximation there is no supply constraint. (In less developed and transition economies, there may be substantial disguised unemployment in the region.) The model consists of four equations.

(*i*) There is a demand function for the region's (or cluster's) exports. The growth of demand is determined by the rate of change of the region's relative prices vis-à-vis the other regions (including other countries) with which it is competing. The region is also affected by the growth of its export markets and the impact on its growth rate is determined by the world income elasticity of demand for its exports. The value of this elasticity, which proves to be crucial in determining the region's growth rate, is a function of the region's structure of production (whether it specialises in goods and services for which world demand is rapidly growing) and all aspects of non-price competitiveness (the quality of the goods, etc.).

(*ii*) The growth of the region's output is determined by the growth of its exports, through the Hicks super-multiplier or the Harrod foreign trade multiplier.

(*iii*) The growth of prices is determined, through a mark-up pricing policy, by the growth of money wages minus the growth of productivity. (The mark up is generally assumed not to change.)

(*iv*) The growth of productivity is determined by the growth of output through the Verdoorn law. A faster growth of productivity feeds back into improved regional competitiveness and hence either increases or sustains a fast growth rate.

32

The cumulative causation model can be illustrated in the following simplified form in Box 1.

Box 1. A Cumulative Causation Model of Economic Growth

..... growth of output \Rightarrow growth of productivity (Verdoorn law) \Rightarrow rate of change of price and non-price competitiveness \Rightarrow growth of exports (via improved price and non-price competitiveness \Rightarrow growth of output (Hicks supermultiplier) \Rightarrow growth of output

Thus growth can take the form of vicious and virtuous circles. Whether growth is explosive or converges to equilibrium depends upon the parameters of the model, most notably the size of the Verdoorn coefficient and the price elasticities. Dixon and Thirlwall (1975) are of the opinion that growth will converge to equilibrium, with the differences in regional growth rates being determined by their income elasticities of demand for their exports. Kaldor differs, but while these economic forces may lead to divergent growth, supply side factors such as labour shortages bidding up money wages or greater congestion increasing costs may serve to reduce, or even offset, the effect (Roberts, 2002). The outcome is a core-periphery situation with high and low productivity regions, although the income disparities are often greatly reduced by interregional fiscal transfers. In many ways, the Kaldorian model anticipated many of the results of the New Economic Geography (Krugman, 1998, 2003).

The conditions under which the formal model two-sector leads to convergent or divergent growth have been examined by Guccione and Gillen (1978) and Dixon and Thirlwall (1978). The cumulative causation model outlined above could lead to the situation of one region experiencing a permanently growing current account deficit and the other a growing surplus. Even though there is a common currency, this is likely to be unstable and the regional balance of payments will operate as a constraint to prevent this from occurring. This is examined in Thirlwall (1985).

5 Criticisms of the Theory of Clusters

Clusters have not been without their critics. In particular, Martin and Sunley (2003) present what can only be called a scathing assessment of specifically Porter's work on clusters. The cluster, they argue, is a vague ill-defined concept, lacking clear indicators for the boundaries, either geographical or industrial. (See Martin and Sunley, 2003, Table 1, p.12 for some of the different definitions that have been advanced.) As such it has become a way of thinking rather than a theory. Moreover, a multitude of methodologies for identifying clusters have been used, ranging from "cluster measurement" based on the use of location quotients together with co-location to relying simply on the judgement of local participants. It is little wonder that the different methodologies used often come up with wide disparities in the number of clusters for the same country.³⁷ We have also noted above the huge variation in the sizes of clusters in terms of employment – indeed, a case could be made for any spatial concentration of firms or industries, together with their suppliers to be termed a cluster.

Martin and Sunley (1993) also note that most of the careful detailed work by economic geographers on analogous concepts such as "industrial districts", "new industrial spaces", territorial production complexes", "neo-Marshallian nodes", "regional innovation milieux, "network regions" and "learning regions" is simply ignored. Indeed, Martin and Sunley go so far as to simply dismiss Porter's notion of the cluster as merely a "rebranding" exercise that has made it intuitive and attractive to policymakers and consultants.

The supposed benefits of a cluster of industries are the various externalities that spatial proximity brings, but there is very little *direct* evidence of the importance of these. Indeed, they are very difficult to measure. The problem is that spatial concentration does not necessarily arise because of agglomeration economies. Martin and Sunley (2003, p. 22) note that

³⁷ Cortright (2006, p.29) discussing Porter's (2003) statistical classification of clusters notes that in his 1988 study, the wine cluster (often taken by Porter to be the exemplar of a cluster) "includes a wide range of different industries, including fertilizers and pesticides, grape-harvesting and winemaking machinery, packaging, glass, public relations, food and restaurants, and educational organizations. In contrast, in his 2003 study, wine and brandy appear as a subcluster in agriculture and none of the other industries is included in the cluster".

much of the evidence used in support of the superior performance argument is anecdotal and is based on success stories about particular locations (Malmberg, 1996), and there are few extensive studies which document how common and important clustering is within particular industries (Malmberg and Maskell, 1997) or studies that carefully compare similar firms inside and outside of clusters.

While the studies cited by Martin and Sunley are now somewhat dated, their arguments still hold.

One of the key aspects stressed by Porter is the importance of the "depth" of a cluster. "Deep clusters have extensive collaborative local networks between firms and supporting agencies that help to develop and maintain competitive edge for firms in the cluster by sharing information, knowledge and assets" (McDonald *et al.*, 2007, p. 40). McDonald *et al.*, used data for the UK to test this proposition. Using Department of Trade and Industry statistics that had placed clusters into five categories (stage of development, cluster depth, employment dynamics, industry sector, and significance), they found that cluster depth was statistically insignificant as an explanatory variable for employment growth and international significance. The most important explanatory category was industrial sector (whether the cluster was manufacturing, services, or media, computer-related and biotechnology industries). "The results indicate that the links between performance, and depth, stage of development and industrial sector are not clearly in accord with Porter-type views on clusters. In particular, the significance of industrial sector for both employment growth and international competitiveness contradicts the view that industrial sector does not affect clusters performance (Porter 2003)" (McDonald *et al.*, 2007 p.45).

What is the role for policy, as the consensus is that clusters are unlikely to be created successfully *ab initio*? This is particularly crucial for attempts to foster clusters in the lagging regions of developed countries and in the transition and developing countries. However, given the vagueness of the term, it is presumably possible to identify a cluster in every part of the country. In fact, this could be one of its attractions to consultants and policy makers keen to identify clusters and there is a tendency for political reasons to identify clusters in virtually all regions.

Porter further argues, as we have seen, that the aim should be to improve the performance of all clusters, not just specific ones.¹ However, matters are not as straightforward as this. First, as we have seen above, Porter argues that *traded* clusters are more important for development than *non-traded* clusters given that he subscribes to a form of export-base or export-led growth theory of cluster development. Secondly, Porter repeatedly makes use of a four-quadrant diagram in his analysis of a region's cluster. The vertical axis is the cluster share of national cluster employment and the horizontal axis is the percentage change of the share. The north-east quadrant identifies those clusters which are seen to be the most successful and presumably ones on which policy should focus. (See, for example, Porter (2001, p.21 Exhibit 13).

Duranton (2008) also presents a formidable critique of cluster policy. The difficulty with the proponents of cluster initiatives is that at best they only have an informal model in mind. It is this, not the fuzziness of the concept, that Duranton finds weakens the case for intervention to promote clusters. The "competitive diamond" of Porter (see Porter 2000, p.20) sets out diagrammatically the "sources of vocational competitive advantage". The model has as its central component the "local context" which is then linked to "firm rivalry", "supporting industries", "demand conditions", and "input conditions" by two-way arrows. Thus improving any one will improve the "competitive advantage" of the cluster. But as Duranton points out, there are no negative effects, in particular rising costs, because of the increased density of production or size of the cluster.

Duranton specifies a very simple model where productivity rises with population because of increasing returns, but so do marginal costs because of the fixity of land. These gives the potential net returns curve a bell shape, as increasing returns initially increases the net returns, but this is eventually offset by rising land costs. Assuming that the supply curve of labour is perfectly horizontal (this is relaxed latter in his paper), the equilibrium outcome is that the cluster is too large, being where the net returns curve cuts (equals) the labour supply curve; not where the distance between them is the greatest. (This is reminiscent of the optimum city size argument, see Richardson, 1978, pp. 73-77.) The problem is one of "coordination failure", where all the clusters may be too big, but no firm wishes to start a new cluster because it would be a very small and unproductive. There are also other inefficiencies that occur when there are increasing returns derived from the fact that external benefits will lead to market failure.
From the Tinbergen dictum we need two policy instruments, one to reduce the size of the cluster and the second to correct the inefficiencies in production, although the latter is likely to need more than just one policy. Porter's prescriptions are seemingly only confined to the productivity curve. Duranton then relaxes the conditions of a horizontal supply curve, allowing it to slope upwards (greater labour needs a higher wage to attract it) and allowing the net returns curve to also shift upwards. This merely reinforces the earlier argument. Correcting negative externalities such as congestion, he argues, could be more effective than any of the policies that cluster advocates suggest for raising productivity growth.

His second criticism relies on the standard argument that consultants and the public bodies charged with implementing the policies may have less information than the industrial entrepreneurs. Thus using public money to enhance clusters could be wasteful and there could also be collusion between the local public bodies and consultants to extract extra resources from the national government.

Duranton also considers that the results of the empirical estimation of the productivity gains by firms being in a cluster. The evidence suggests that on balance the gains, while positive, are small. "Doubling the specialization in a typical activity and area is associated with an increase in productivity of around 4%" and even then he considers these estimates to be an overestimate (Duranton, 2008, p.31.) The overall conclusion of Duranton is that "larger gains can be achieved locally by improving the policies associated with the cost curve, such as land-use planning, urban transport, provision of local public goods, etc. These policies, which have been for the longest time the "staple" policies of local governments, may not be as "sexy" as setting up a bio-tech cluster or the next Silicon valley" (p.37).

A further critique of the cluster concept is as follows. Firms have to locate in space somewhere. To minimise costs, in the past it is likely that manufacturing suppliers located near to their purchasing firms. With uncertainty about all forms of location costs, similar firms will locate near existing firms. (See, for example, Webber, 1972.) In other words, the close juxtaposition of firms may have nothing to do with positive externalities. Yet the theory of clusters relies on the existence of positive externalities, but in most cases there is little convincing micro (case study) evidence of pervasive externalities. There is no compelling evidence that the present clustering of, for example, law firms or financial

services has anything to do with the ease of face-to-face communication. Generally, the spread of the major innovations does not occur costlessly through diffusion and is not greatly enhanced by the spatial proximity of firms – it occurs through the embodiment of capital goods and purchase of intermediate goods; e.g. the I.T. revolution has occurred through the spread of, for example, personal computers. Distance is to all intents and purposes for this irrelevant. The whole rationale of in-house R&D and the patent system is to *prevent* the diffusion of invention. The importance of specific skills (e.g. textile workers) has long since disappeared. Modern society depends upon general skills or skills that can be quickly acquired in on the job training. Manufacturing in the advanced countries is now less than 16% of output. Its location is subject to sunk costs and there is a path dependence effect; investment is of a 'putty-clay' nature. Incremental investment makes a firm's location "sticky" and it is this that leads to the persistence of concentrations of particular firms (Arthur, 1994). It has nothing to do with prevalence of agglomeration economies.

If this is correct, the question then arises as to why do cities exist if there are not pervasive agglomeration economies? The answer is that cities greatly reduce the costs of the movement of people Glaeser (1998, p.140). They also enable the efficient distribution of retail goods (Central Place Theory), and there are different preferences of people for living in different city sizes. Moreover, the existence of cities of different sizes does not necessarily imply the existence of increasing returns to scale. The fixed costs (provision of infrastructure) limits number of potential city sizes and the stochastic "law of proportionate effect" can give rise to the (quasi) rank size rule. A stochastic phenomenon such as the law of proportionate effect, by definition, is *not* due to specific economic forces.

Does this mean cluster policy is misplaced? Not necessarily, but simply because in developing countries, scare resources means that a degree of spatial concentration of investment is optimal, especially social overhead capital. Space is important and this is true of the CAREC countries.

6 Resource-based Industrialization and Clusters

Energy is the most significant natural resource of several of the CAREC countries and is an important element in the development equation. Azerbaijan and Kazakhstan have substantial reserves of coal and oil. Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan are large gas producers,

while Kazakhstan also has significant gas deposits. The Chinese province of Xinjiang is self sufficient in gas production. Coal is the major source of domestically used energy for all these countries. The Kyrgyz Republic is a significant producer of hydroelectric power. Consequently, these resources should provide the basis for rapid growth in these countries and indeed, as we shall see, Porter (2005) has suggested the importance of generating clusters in Kazakhstan that are based on the country's energy industry. The energy cluster involves the development of linkages between firms that produce capital equipment for the industry. It also includes firms that produce products that use coal and petroleum, etc., as a raw materials (such as the petrochemical industry), and not just as an energy source. Cluster policy goes beyond improving the extraction of the natural resource, but involves a diversification and movement up the value chain.

A priori, it would be thought that the resource-rich (especially in terms of minerals and energy resources) developing or transition countries would be in an excellent position for rapid sustained growth. The substantial revenues from the economic rents³⁸ of these natural resources could be devoted to physical and human capital formation and also to the diversification of the economy into the production of relatively more high-tech industries. The exports of energy should be able to generate foreign exchange earnings that could finance the purchase of the required advanced capital equipment from abroad. From this point of view, the resource rich countries of Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Tajikistan and Uzbekistan the (AKTU countries) should have been well placed.

However, there is now a substantial literature that suggests that in many cases natural resources may actually be a "curse", in that the presence of significant reserves of natural resources may actually hinder economic development (Sachs and Warner, 1995, Lal and Myint, 1966 Auty, 2001). The argument is that in a non-democratic country, the rents from these natural resources may be expropriated by the government to pay its supporters and maintain itself in power. Thus, there is less incentive for such governments to introduce beneficial economic and social reforms, which indeed may weaken its hold on power.

Dalmazzo and Blasio (2000) present a formal economic model along these lines. Auty (2006) presents a more qualitative, but somewhat richer framework. In his *staple trap and*

³⁸ Economic or resource rents are the pure profits that remain after transport costs have been deducted and all the factors of production have been remunerated at their opportunity costs.

exogenous democratization (STEX) model, the analysis is very similar to that of Dalmazzo and Blasio. The resource abundance encourages "predatory political states" to focus on rent extraction rather than reforms, and consequently the return to investment falls over time. In Auty's alternative *competitive industrialization and endogenous democratization* (CIEN) model where the natural resources are much smaller, the absence of substantial economic rents encourages the governments to introduce wealth-creating policies, and to promote early industrialization. Furthermore, the manufacturing sector is forced to be competitive because it is the main source of foreign exchange. "The resulting low-rent development trajectory triggers virtuous economic and social circles that sustain rapid [per capita GDP] growth" (Auty, 2006, p.22).

The econometric evidence for developing countries as a whole is somewhat mixed and the term resources covers such diverse products as oil as agriculture. Important for our purposes is the study of Collier and Goderis (2007), which used co-integration methods that allowed them to distinguish between short- and long-run effects. For agriculture, both the short and long-run effects of greater production are advantageous for exporters, reflecting improvements in the terms of trade and resulting in an improvement in growth. But for oil, and non-agricultural natural resource exports, there is strong evidence of a significant resource curse.

One of the major differences between agriculture and minerals (together with energy) is that the rents from agriculture tend to be more spatially spread and this sector has substantial linkages with the surrounding economy. Minerals and oil and gas production tend to be much more locally concentrated. Moreover, given the more capital-intensive nature of mineral and, consequently, energy extraction, very little, if any, of the skilled labour or intermediate inputs come from the immediate surrounding areas. There are consequently very small spatial (regional) multiplier effects.

A second reason for the possible deleterious effect of resource abundance is the so-called "Dutch Disease". The substantial foreign exchange earnings from the exports of the resources can increase the exchange rate, which reduces the prices of other, notably, manufactured exports and imports, when both are measured in the domestic currency. This may have long-run adverse effects on industrialization if it curtails the development of the manufacturing sector and manufacturing export growth. Manufacturing is often seen as the

engine of growth and generates large positive externalities (Kaldor, 1966). Moreover, given the relatively low level of employment that the energy sector generates, the lack of manufacturing employment growth can leave the country remaining as a labour-surplus economy with substantial disguised unemployment.

The Dutch disease can occur through the *resource movement effect*. The rise in oil production and/or its price encourages both domestic and foreign investment in the sector, at the expense of the manufacturing sector. This can also lead to the attraction of skilled labour from the other sectors. Moreover, the *spending effect* where the relative price increase of the nontradable sector rises can also cause deindustrialization. This occurs because of the movement of labour which is drawn from the nontradable to the oil sector, which causes excess demand. To the extent that increases in wages across all sectors arise from the high wages in the oil sector and the fact that the nontradable sector normally has lower productivity than the other two sectors, this can cause the relative price on nontradables vis-à-vis the rest of the economy to range. Finally, the tax revenues from the oil production may be more than proportionally spent on nontradables (Corden and Neary, 1982). Finally there is the *real exchange rate effect*. The greater cost of manufactured exports in foreign prices will cause loss of competitiveness on world markets and hence a fall in non-oil exports. The Dutch Disease can be offset to the extent that the foreign exchange revenues are "sterilized" in a special sovereign fund, such as that created by Norway and emulated by Kazakhstan, which can then be used when there is a collapse in demand and/or prices of the resource. It also provides a revenue stream when the natural resource becomes depleted.

The volatility of energy prices can also pose problems, both for private investment in the energy sector and for the level of government revenues. As far as the latter is concerned, increased government expenditure when resource revenues are booming may be very difficult to curtail when the boom collapses.

6.1 Successful Resource-Based Clusters

As the ECA [the United Nations Economic Commission for Africa] (2004) and Singh (2001) point out, there are, in fact, a number of examples of the successful development of resource-based clusters. The benefits do not necessarily come entirely from the natural

resources, *per se*, but from the value chains and linkages from the industries that develop around them. These clusters can even thrive long after the original resources on which they were initially built have been exhausted. Thus, the resource curse is not inevitable.

Examples of successful resource-based clusters include Finland, Sweden and the Sudbury cluster in Canada (ECA, 2004). In Finland, the key natural resource was forestry and the successful telecommunications firm Nokia began life as a paper and pulp producer. It then diversified into rubber and cables, electrical goods and finally into telecommunications. Sweden was a major producer of iron ore, but the opening up of cheap ore deposits in Brazil and Australia forced it to diversify. This led to a deliberate diversification into sophisticated, but related, industries, such as "specialty steels, and fine paper, roller bearings, rock drills and fabricated steel products" (Walker and Jourdan, 2003, p. 33). This diversification was accompanied by a development of a capital goods industry to provide the machinery for the primary industries. Sudbury in Canada was a major producer of nickel, but in the 1970s the price of this raw material contracted and forced rationalization. New enterprises were established and Sudbury established itself as a centre for innovation in the hard rock mining industry (Ritter, 2000).

These countries' successful cluster strategy "was based not so much on the continued exploitation of a rich natural resource base as increasing the domestic value added associated with such natural resources by prompting the development of those activities which naturally tend to 'cluster' around resource–based processing and extraction industries. These included supplying critical 'side stream' inputs (such as capital equipment, consulting services, and consumables), and activities engaged in further processing or utilization of outputs ('downstream' activities). Clustering not only enhanced the productivity of the workforce, but also resulted in increased income distribution in the local population and rapid economic growth" (ECA, p.13). Thus, an appropriate cluster policy may obviate the resource curse.

However, it should be noted that all these examples are from mature countries with a transparent and democratic government, an impartial and well-developed legal system and well-defined property rights. Without these it will be difficult, if not impossible, to develop competitive clusters and this is the major challenge facing the AKTU countries.

6.2 The Spatial Implications of Energy and Mineral Clusters

The energy resources have two distinctive characteristics; they are spatially concentrated and do not easily lend themselves to the development of forward and backward production linkages. Moreover, the rents can, through taxation, provide fiscal revenues, but whether or not these funds are used productively and the degree to which public expenditure is local (rather than being siphoned off to the capital city) depends upon the quality of the institutions. Oil and gas can be shipped large distances for further processing and the specialised and technological advanced capital equipment can be imported. In other words, the energy industries pose the serious risk of remaining enclave economies, with little multiplier effects on the local economy. Infrastructure may be geared solely towards to the export of the energy resource and there may be little resulting development in the surrounding area. The labour input, although skilled, is likely to be small in numbers and high-income consumer goods will largely be imported from abroad. The growth of the regional economy becomes highly dependent on the price of the natural resource and hence subject to possibly large exogenous shocks. Moreover, being a relatively homogeneous product, there is little scope for improving non-price competitiveness of energy resources and thereby increasing the income elasticity of demand of a natural resource and stabilising its market through product differentiation.

The most natural formation of a mineral cluster is through the refining of the minerals and the production of, say, steel from neighbouring iron ore deposits. But as we shall see in Kazakhstan, this can still lead to highly-specialised company towns which are highly dependent upon the natural resource. A region only becomes mature when its dependence on a single commodity, or resource, ceases.

What are the implications to be drawn from the New Economic Geography (NEG) models? These point to the importance of agglomeration economies and show, for example, how as transport costs fall below a critical level, one of two *ex ante* identical regions can come to dominate manufacturing. The NEG suggests several possibilities. "For example, one might tell an 'extreme Dutch Disease' story, in which rather than simply 'squeezing' manufacturing, a resource boom totally inhibits all manufacturing agglomeration. Conversely the opposite may occur, where a resource boom increases the size of the domestic market size, encouraging manufacturing agglomeration. Whether we have the

43

former or the latter would likely to be driven by, *inter alia*, the linkages fostered by the resource sector with the domestic economy, through, for example, its factor use" (Nelson and Behar, 2008, p.10). This leads to the promotion of agglomeration economies through a cluster policy. As we shall see, in Kazakhstan there was the development of large company towns under the Soviet system, but the industries were, and still are, very inefficient, with none of the dynamic private initiatives emphasised by Porter. To make them competitive is likely to need a substantial role for government. As Porter has stressed, the key to rapid growth is the diversification into first, labour-intensive manufacturing and then into more high-tech production around the core industry. This also has the benefits of spatially concentrating the scarce resources available for infrastructure rather than spreading them geographically too thin.

However, as Nelson and Behar (2008, p.16) emphasise the implications for development depend upon the underlying theory thought to be most plausible. It is worth quoting them in detail on this.

More concretely, a basic Hecksher-Ohlin type trade model would suggest it may be a mistake for some African countries to pursue labour intensive manufacturing based industrialisation along the lines of the East Asian 'Tigers', as their comparative advantage in land and resources looks more like the 18th and 19th century US (on this see Wood, 2002). By contrast, if one had a 'new economic geography' type model in mind, featuring increasing returns and the potential for agglomeration, the policy conclusions may be quite different. Here, the development of particular regions, characterised by the agglomeration of manufacturing activity, is the flip-side of underdevelopment in others. Moreover, such forces of agglomeration set the scene for international income inequality and regional divergence (see e.g. Redding and Venables (2004)). Such models could be taken to suggest that governments in developing countries should expressly aim to encourage the development of manufacturing activity. Thus the potential cleavage in the theoretical literature brings with it a potentially contradictory set of policy prescriptions. (Emphasis in the original)

The cluster-based approach, as we have seen, has much in common with the 'new economic geography'.

6.3 Energy Resources in the AKTU Countries

The CAREC countries can be divided into the resource-rich countries, namely, Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan (the AKTU countries) and the rest. While

resources in this context include both agriculture and minerals, it is the energy production that is particularly important as it generates the largest economic rents. The remainder of the CAREC countries, the Kyrgyz Republic, Afghanistan, Northern China and Mongolia are resource poor. As we shall see, the oil and gas reserves of the resource rich countries are substantial and the economic rents provided form a significant part of their GDP. (For detailed discussions of the role of oil in these countries, see the papers in Akiner (2004) and Najman *et al.*, (2008).

As may be seen from Table 1 the oil reserves and production of Kazakhstan and Azerbaijan are substantial relative to their size. Moreover, the importance of energy to the AKTU economies can be best seen from the large share of energy rents as a percentage of GDP in these countries. (Table 2).

Country	Oil Reserves		Oil Production			
·	Thousand million tonnes	Share of total ^a (%)	Rank ^b	Million Shar tonnes (%	e of total	^a Rank ^b
Kazakhstan	5.3	3.2	9	72.0	5.1	18
Azerbaijan	1.0	0.6	19	44.7	1.1	22
Turkmenista	n 0.1	0.0	46	10.2	0.3	37
Uzbekistan	0.1	0.0	47	4.8	0.1	47

Table 1 Oil Reserves and Oil Production 2008

Note: ^a Share of world total; ^b world rank

Country	Gas Rents	Oil Rents	Total Rents
Azerbaijan	5.7	50.5	56.2
Kazakhstan	1.2	27.2	28.4
Turkmenistan	31.6	31.6	63.2
Uzbekistan	17.8	15.6	33.4
Russia	16.5	16.2	32.7

Table 2 Energy Rents as a percentage of GDP in AKTU and Russia, 2000

Source: Esanov, Raiser and Buiter (2006)

Nevertheless, in spite of these substantial reserves, the oil resources of Kazakhstan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan were relatively underdeveloped in the Soviet era, compared with Azerbaijan and the Siberian areas. This was probably because of the technical difficulties in exploiting the reserves in the Caspian basin. Natural gas reserves have long been exploited in Uzbekistan where they were becoming exhausted, and the Soviet Union had begun to invest heavily in Turkmenistan's natural gas industry (Pomfret, 2006, p.153).

Much of the problem in the Soviet era was that its oil industry was outdated in its production technology and well behind the technological frontier. In the 1980s, with the progressive liberalization of the Soviet economy, Chevron entered into discussions about developing the large Tengiz field that had been discovered in 1979. After 1991, the US companies continued to maintain an interest in the other substantial oil fields that had been discovered in the Caspian basin, including Karachaganak. There was also growing foreign participation in Azerbaijan with a number of Production Sharing Agreements signed. Turkmenistan initially attracted less attention due to its more limited oil resources and its more inaccessible location, but in the 1990s foreign companies explored the substantial gas reserves of the country.

The optimistic assessment of the reserves in the 1990s ("Turkmenistan alone was often spoken of as a 'second Kuwait' (Akiner, 2004, p.10)) were soon tempered by the realisation of the technical problems of extraction, including geological difficulties, the remoteness of some of the fields and the poor infrastructure. Moreover, legal disputes arouse over the ownership of the reserves in the Caspian Sea. The joint use that the Soviet Union had agreed with Iran over the mineral rights were not agreeable to the new independent states or to the oil companies (for a detailed discussion, see Granmayeh, 2004).

Foreign investors were also concerned about the fact that as a result of a legacy from the Soviet Union, most of the major oil and gas pipelines from the AKTU countries were to the FSU and still under Russian control. Indeed, this is still of major concern. It was only in 2009 that the EU and Turkey came to an agreement over what seemed for a time to be the ill-fated \$US 9bn Nabucco pipeline that was designed to transport natural gas from the Central Asian Countries to Europe, thereby breaking Russia's and Gazprom's monopoly. The pipeline stretched for more than 2000 miles from Turkey's eastern border to the EU gas hub outside of Vienna and the success of the project was in doubt until Turkey relinquished is demands for a tax on the pumped gas. The pipeline will initially take gas from Azerbaijan's Shah Deniz-2 field but the aim is to transport gas from the vast Turkmenistan deposits.

46

Yet, certainly in the 1990s, the energy resources did not seem to have conferred any beneficial effect on the growth of the AKTU countries and they seemed to be subject to a resource curse.³⁹ As Esanov *et al.*, (2006, p.30) put it: "The main argument is that far from being a blessing that would have allowed energy-rich countries to cushion the impact of reforms and thus make faster progress, resource rents have often been wasted or appropriated by the ruling elites." In Auty's (2006) STEX model, high resource rents generate a vicious circle where the government concentrates on taxation and other measures to appropriate the economic rents. "Consequently, it amplifies the probabilities of predatory behaviour, of policy failure and of economic distortion due to maladroit rent deployment" (Auty, 2006, p.28). On the other hand, the resource-poor countries have, of necessity, had to undertake economic reforms and the conditionality requirements of the internal financial institutions have had more effect.

The rents in the AKTU countries were not spent on social services (notably health and education) to ease the path of transition. The resource-poor countries spent about the same as a percentage of their GDP as the resource rich countries. Using the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development transition indicators for the degree of reform for 5 and 10 years after independence, Esanov et al., (2006) find that the degree reform (as measured by the transition indicators) in the AKTU countries did not exceed the remaining CIS countries to any significant degree. "This is a remarkable result, if we remember the size of the rents available to these countries to cushion adjustment costs and thus the potentially much weaker feasibility constraint on implementing reform" (Esanov, et al., 2006, p.46). But this result was largely driven by Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan, where the rents came from the state-owned farms and were easily appropriated at the beginning of independence. Consequently, these countries had little incentive to undertake any reforms. In Azerbaijan and Kazakhstan, the energy resources had to be developed first, largely through foreign investment, so there were initial reforms, including aggressive privatization in Kazakhstan. But once the energy rents came on stream, the reforms declined sharply before resuming in the mid-2000s.

³⁹ Two types of resource curse may be identified. The "strong" resource curse occurs when the pace of economic development is below the rate that would have occurred in the absence of these natural resources. The "weak" form is when the natural resources confer some extra benefit to the growth process, but not as much as would have occurred in a fully democratic country.

Under the FSU, the resources were sold to the Soviet Union at grossly underpriced rates. This was compensated for by a complicated series of direct and indirect transfers. In the AKTU countries where the parliament was totally dominated by the ex-communists, there were pressures to maintain what were in effect, economic subsidies, and economic rents from the energy resources were used for this purpose. The resource–poor countries were under greater pressure to undertake reforms by the international financial institutions.

7 Industrial Development in Kazakhstan

In this section, attention is confined to cluster policy in Kazakhstan, which has gone furthest down this road than any of the other CAREC countries.

The Kazakhstan government has indicated that it recognises the importance of entrepreneurs and market forces in the growth process, but it has developed a governmentled diversification strategy. In order to avoid the putative "resource curse" discussed above, the government has seen it as essential that the economy diversifies away from the extraction of oil (Zabortseva, 2009). While the country enjoyed a rapid growth of GDP of 9 per cent per annum from 2000 to 2007 (until the global financial crisis reduced the growth rate to 3% in 2008), there was an over-dependence on oil production. Hydrocarbons increased from 11 per cent of GDP in 1990 to 16 percent in 2007. Mining consisted of 67% of total industry in 2007 (current prices) and mineral products accounted for 70% of total export revenues (and 47% of the value of exports to the CIS countries and 74% of those to the rest of the world).⁴⁰

Under the present policy, it is the government that determines the sectors that are to be encouraged and supported by government funding and investment. In this, it is following the strategy of Singapore, South Korea and Malaysia where government planning has played a major role in industrial development. In particular, Kazakhstan sees Malaysia as the example to follow, because of the latter's initial heavy reliance on natural resources. The first development strategy, *Kazakhstan 2030*, emphasised the need for an open market economy and substantial foreign FDI,⁴¹ but also stressed the need for government policy at

⁴⁰ Agency of Statistics of the Republic of Kazakhstan, Statistical Yearbook, "Kazakhstan in 2007", Asatana.

⁴¹ It has been remarkably successful in this. Over 80% of all FDI to the Central Asian Economies has gone to Kazakhstan (Zabortseva, 2009)

the microeconomic level. The major initiative occurred in 2003 with the publication of the *Innovative Industrial Strategy for the Republic of Kazakhstan 2003-2015*. This identified the industries that were to be given priority for development and in 2004 it was announced that this was to be achieved by the policy of cluster development. The target is to turn Kazakhstan into one of the top 50 most competitive countries in the world and to increase its GDP by three-and-a-half times by 2015, compared with 2002.

The proposed increase in Kazakhstan's competitiveness might not be as ambitious as it seems at first sight, as it depends upon how competitiveness is measured. According to the World Economic Forum's *Global Competitiveness Index* (GCI), *2008-2009*, Kazakhstan is ranked 66th in terms of overall competitiveness out of 134 countries, just above Greece. The Russian Federation is ranked 51st. The index is based on a ranking of institutions and other factors that determine the level of productivity. Following the Porter classification, countries are classified as either (*i*) factor-driven, (*ii*) efficiency-driven or (*iii*) innovation-driven economies. There are three aggregate sub-indices (based, in turn, on 12 groupings or pillars) on which the overall index is based. These are given different weightings, depending upon the level of development. For example, the innovation index is given a 30% weighting in the index for an innovation-driven economy, but only 5% for a factor-driven economy.

Kazakhstan is classified as being in the transition stage from a factor- to efficiency-driven economy.⁴² (Of the other Central Asian Countries for which data are available in the GCI, Azerbaijan (ranked 69th) is also categorized as in transition while the Kyrgyz Republic (116th) and Tajikistan (122nd) are both factor-driven.) This explains how Kazakhstan can be ranked higher than Greece, although Greece has a much higher level of productivity. Greece does not perform well in the innovation index, which, given its level of development, is one of the key drivers of its competitiveness.^{43,44}

⁴² In the sub-indices, Kazakhstan ranks 74th in basic requirements, 64th in efficiency enhancers and 77th in innovation factors.

⁴³ There are also some anomalies in the rankings in the individual indices. Kazakhstan is recorded as having a "competitive advantage" in its railroad system, which clearly does not reflect the difficulty in transporting goods to its export markets. It is also 4th in its hiring and firing practices, but to the extent that this reflects the absence of any employment protection or trade union representation and hence reduces the work effort and worker satisfaction, it is not necessarily an advantage.

⁴⁴ The report stated that "more will have to be done in Kazakhstan to improve the institutional environment. Particular attention should be focused on addressing weaknesses related to the quality of the institutions, notably judicial independence, the protection of property rights, government inefficiency, public trust of politicians and security. A focus on improving the health of the

7.1 The Historical Legacy and the Spatial Structure of Industry in Kazakhstan⁴⁵

It has been shown that the spatial, in addition to the economic, structure of production is an important factor in economic development. Consequently, in order to fully appreciate the present spatial structure of industry within Kazakhstan, it is necessary to consider the historical development of its industrial economy.

Kazakhstan's prosperity in the past has almost entirely depended upon the production of basic commodities, and this is still very much the case today. These commodities include agricultural products such as wheat and livestock and mineral deposits of copper, alumina, lead, zinc, iron ore and especially, oil, gas and coal. In 2007, basic commodities accounted for 22% of GDP compared with only 12% for manufacturing.

The pattern of development under the Soviet system throughout the 1920s and 1930s was the construction of large enterprises and company towns, a legacy which persists to the present day.

After World War II, investments continued to concentrate on developing the resource sectors even though the costs of development in remote areas were increasingly burdensome, and Kazakhstan's economy remained dependent on the extraction and preliminary processing of its many resources. The economy of no other Soviet republic was so concentrated in these sectors, and it is hard to name an economy anywhere in the world with such a substantial proportion of its industrial structure in resource-based enterprises. (Peck, 2004, p.235)

The problem with this strategy is that few ancillary industries were developed in the company towns and so the benefits of the MAR externalities were forgone.⁴⁶ This legacy has important implications for the development of clusters today, as we shall see. The spatial distribution of industry, with the high transport costs, followed Weberian (1909/1929) lines with its location tied especially to those of its raw materials. The eastern region of Kazakhstan became an important centre of nonferrous mining based on local ore

workforce and the quality of the educational system, and placing a greater focus on technological adoption, will also be important in the country's efforts to improve its competitiveness" (GCI, 2008, p.290). ⁴⁵ This draws heavily on Peck (2004).

⁴⁶ The company towns included schools, hospitals and cultural centres.

deposits. The central region became important for its production of coal and copper and a major iron and steel complex developed in Karaganda,⁴⁷ again based on local deposits of iron ore. In the west, oil and natural gas production dominated the economy. The south remained largely agricultural.

The northern two-thirds of the Kazakhstan where most of the mineral deposits are to be found developed significantly faster than the southern one-third. The former region received the lion's share of investment. Moreover, the ethic composition of the two regions varied. Russians dominated the northern two-thirds and Kazakhs were predominant in the south. "And, although regional equity was a frequently reiterated goal of Soviet industrial policy, Kazakhstan never reached economic equity with other industrial republics in the former Soviet Union. Even within the country, equity among regions remained an illusive goal" (Peck, 2004, p.44).

After the Second World War until the collapse of the Soviet Union in 1991, the development of Kazakhstan's mineral reserves was given top priority by the Soviet planners. In the early 1970s, Kazakhstan's investment was 20-30% above the average of Soviet Union but the rate of return on capital was lower than in the rest of the Soviet Union, suggesting a serious misallocation of capital accumulation. As the discovery of new mineral deposits declined, so did the region's share of investment. But even by the 1960s, the return to capital in Kazakhstan was just 50 percent of the overall average rate of return in the Soviet Union and, by 1990, the large firms were more obsolete than many commentators realised. The prospects for the economy in the 1990s were consequently viewed over-optimistically. (Peck, 2004, p. 49, cites Pomfret, 1995, and the World Bank, 1993, as examples.)⁴⁸

The Soviet planners had thought that with the large mineral deposit and hydroelectric power, these, together with the aid of heavy initial investment, would have propelled Kazakhstan into rapid sustained growth. But this never occurred. With the abolition of forced labour, higher wages were needed to maintain the labour force in the inhospitable country and, even so, the industries in the East were subject to high labour turnover. Kazakhstan was less productive than areas of the Former Soviet Union to the west of the

⁴⁷ In 1989, the huge complex at Karaganda accounted for about 5% of total GDP and was in the top 25 largest firms in Russia.

⁴⁸ Nevertheless, growth in the subsequent decade has fulfilled their expectations.

Urals, yet the Soviet planners persisted with high investment in Kazakhstan for strategic reasons. With the collapse in growth in the Soviet Union, so the rate of investment declined sharply and the rate of return actually improved a little. Nevertheless, over the period 1940-1990, the growth of industrial output in Kazakhstan was above that of the whole country, although its path closely paralleled that of the latter, so that by the late 1980s it was only 3% per annum.

Because of the location of the mineral deposits, during the twentieth century Kazakhstan developed into a spatially dual economy. Most of the industrial development occurred in the northern two-thirds of the country, approximately north of a line through Lake Balkhash. While some valuable deposits were later discovered in the south, most of this region was agricultural with investment largely concentrated in such projects as irrigation. Even by the 1970s, the spatial economy could scarcely be called integrated.

The development of Kazakhstan under the Soviet system led to the oblasts (regions) often having stronger links with the rest of the Soviet Union than with each other. "In 1960, for example, 61 per cent of all rail shipments (by weight) from cities in the northern two-thirds of the country were destined for locations outside of Kazakhstan. Of the remaining 39 per cent of rail shipments, 26 percent were to other locations in the northern region and only 13 per cent were to locations in the southern third of the country" (Peck, 2004 p.53). These external links were largely to Russia. Even *within* the northern region, where there were four distinct sub-regions, very little trade occurred between these areas. Less than 15 percent of rail shipments originating in these regions went to another region in Kazakhstan. During this time there was "not a development plan which fostered the creation of an integrated national industry where growth in one region might have supported development in another or become the impetus for 'rapid self-sustaining' growth" (Peck, 2004, p.54).⁴⁹

Consequently, the spatial structure of production arising from the command economy of the Soviet years have important implications for Kazakhstan's future growth. In particular, the development of a spatially integrated transport network with links to external markets other than the Former Soviet Union countries is essential for the development of Kazakhstan.

⁴⁹ Nevertheless, in terms of social provision and indicators (physicians per capita, levels of education, life expectancy, etc), Kazakhstan faired much better than the other Central Asian Economies

8 Kazakhstan's Cluster Policy

Given the importance of space and distance in economic development, as has been noted, Kazakhstan, since the early 2000s, has enthusiastically embraced the concept of cluster development, partly through the advice of Porter.⁵⁰ The strategy is twofold. First, given the large energy resources and agricultural production, there is an attempt to develop these two as clusters as well as several other industries. Secondly, it is recognised that there has to be diversification of the economy (World Bank, 2005, Rakhmatulina, 2006, Zashev and Vahtra, 2006).

As the name suggests, *Diversification of Kazakhstan's Economy through Cluster Development in Non-extraction Sectors of the Economy*⁵¹ is an attempt to diversify the economy away from, particularly, the extractive industries. In the first stage of the programme 55,000 enterprises in 46 branches in 12 regions were studied by government appointed committees, together with advice from a US consulting company.

Seven sectors have already been identified as being suitable for developing as a cluster. They are oil-and-gas machine building, tourism, transport logistics, construction materials, food processing, textiles, and metallurgy. Later additions to be added to the list are cotton, wine and fish clusters. Thus, cluster development is one of the major policy instruments for generating economic development and growth. The government considers it important that to build an innovation system and to this end a national innovation fund has been developed to lower the risk of private capital in dealing with projects that involve technological transfer and to finance R&D.

The general problem with a cluster strategy, that was identified earlier, is that, first, by definition all enterprises have input-output links with upstream and downstream firms and unless the spatial dimension is explicitly incorporated, the concept of a cluster could become nothing more than a tautology. Secondly, it could be merely a cloak for a widespread "picking winners" government industrial policy that some commentators consider has been long discredited as a development strategy.

⁵⁰ See, for example, M.E. Porter (2005).

⁵¹ "Diversification of Kazakhstan's Economy through Cluster Development in Non-extraction Sectors of the Economy", (http://www.kazakhemb.org.il/?CategoryID=185&ArticleID=252)

In the transition economies with only a short experience of a quasi-market economy and with lack of entrepreneurial experience, it is inevitable that the government will need to on take a leading role. Romanova and Lavrikova (2008), in their study of regional clusters in Russia distinguish between two types of cluster policy. The *continental or "top down" policy of cluster development* involves active central government participation in the selection of the clusters, their financing and various targets such as creating the necessary infrastructure and encouraging R&D. This, they argue, has been the approach in Japan, France, Singapore and Sweden. The *Anglo-Saxon* or "*bottom up" policy* relies heavily on private enterprise to determine the clusters and it is the largely role of the regional authorities is to facilitate this by advice. These two are not mutually exclusive and their empirical study shows that the "Titanium Valley" cluster in Russia is essentially a top-down cluster while the Ural Automobile cluster is essentially a bottom-up cluster.

Any assessment of Kazakhstan's cluster programme faces two problems. The first is that the policy is in its very early stages and, as Porter has stressed, it may take years or decades for the full effects of a cluster to come to fruition. The second is that, to date, there are relatively few studies that have been undertaken of clusters in Kazakhstan, even of those that have developed without government intervention. (Zashev and Vahtra's (2006) study of Kazakhstan's industrial clusters has no explicit consideration of its spatial aspects or implications.) The next sections concentrate on the energy cluster, innovation clusters and the technoparks (although strictly speaking these are not government designated clusters) and the agro-industry cluster.

8.1 Kazakhstan's Energy Cluster

As was noted above, Oil production is a major component of Kazakhstan's output. In 2008 the country was ranked 18th in the world in terms of its production, producing 72 million tonnes and accounting for 1.8% or world production, immediately ahead of the UK. In terms of proven reserves Kazakhstan ranked 9th in the world with 5.3 billion tonnes which was 3.2 percent of the world total. The reliance on mining (of which 85% is the extraction of oil) is reflected in the fact that it accounts for one and a half times the value of total manufacturing and over 60 percent of total exports. It also accounts for about 40 percent of the fixed gross capital formation.

54

Both oil production and proven reserves are expected to increase substantially over the next few years, with most of the extra output coming from the offshore fields in the far west North Caspian region, especially from the Kashagan field in the Atyrau oblast. With the Tengiz oil field, the oblast of Atyrau is the main oil region. While there have been a number of smaller developments, oil is produced in very few regions (21 of the 158 rayons, excluding the cities). Although the oil fields are not completely isolated from urban developments, they are far from the large urban areas of Almaty and Astana. Lohmus and Ter-Martirosyan (2008) estimate that the oil revenues are likely to allow a sustainable nonoil fiscal deficit of 6 per cent of GDP in the short term, without reducing the value of the oil wealth, although this estimated is hedged with uncertainties about the price of oil and the infrastructure constraints etc., on future production.

The way the oil revenues should be spent in order to diversify the economy and promote overall growth have been the subject of a number of detailed studies (see, for example, World Bank, 2005, Rakhmatulina, 2006) and will not be examined in any great detail here. An issue though that has implications for any development of Kazakhstan is whether or not the country suffers from the "Dutch disease". In other words, do the foreign exchange earnings from Kazakhstan's oil production have a detrimental effect on the manufacturing sector. The evidence for Kazakhstan is mixed. Kutan and Wyzan (2005) employing a version of the Balassa-Samuelson model using data from 1996-2003 find that changes in oil prices have had a significant effect on changes in the real exchange rate, which indicates Dutch disease effects.⁵² Different results are found by Egert and Leonard (2008) who use the monetary approach to the balance of payments for the period 1996-2005. They find that the real exchange rate of the non-oil open sector is *not* linked to the real price of oil.

8.1.1 The Spatial Impact of the Oil Revenues

This has been analysed in detail by Najman *et al.*, (2008) who find that the oil production has virtually no spatial spillover effects. There has not been any sustained employment growth in the regions where the oil production centres are located and inequality and poverty remain worse in these areas. The oil production centres are, in fact, enclave economies. They employ less than one percent of the total active labour force and the

⁵² The model they estimate is: Real Exchange Rate = f (Productivity, Inflation, Oil prices).

immediate employment effects of related construction (such as the CPC pipeline) is positive but short lived. There are thus very limited regional multiplier effects and most of the oil revenues benefit the metropolitan areas in other regions increasing the inequality between the rich and the poor. Many of the poorest people live in the regions that produce the oil. Part of the oil revenues goes straight into the National Oil Fund which was established in 2000 to reduce the impact of the volatility of world oil prices.⁵³ It also acts to distribute the oil wealth over the generations. However, a substantial proportion goes to the central government, but as a *quid pro quo*, the regional governors have considerable power to extract revenues from the oil companies in their jurisdiction (see Raballand and Gente 2008, p. 20, figure 2.5). The poorer regions benefit most from the official transfers from the central government, but the northern oblasts, although equally poor compared with the other regions, receive proportionally less. Higher real wages in the oil producing regions have little effect on poverty, due to the small numbers employed in the oil industry, but "unofficial or informal earnings" are more important in these regions.

8.1.2 Energy value chains or clusters?

The importance of the energy sector in Kazakhstan's development has long been recognized, although the earlier studies analysed it in terms of "value chains" rather than clusters (see, for example Gereffi, *et al.*, 2003, World Bank, 2005). "The purpose of a global value chain analysis is to identify: who the lead firms are in global industries; how international supply chains are organized; where different types of high and low-value goods and services are located; and how countries can improve or maintain their positions within these industries. ... The goods and services in any supply chain involve a combination of high and low value-added activities, and value chain analysis uses these to help determine how a country is inserted into the global economy, and the conditions under which a country might be able to improve or "upgrade" its position" (Gereffi *et al.*, 2003, p. 7). The relationship between the aspatial value chain and the spatial cluster analysis is readily apparent.

⁵³ The fund utilizes the foreign exchange earnings purchasing them with the domestic economy and investing them in foreign securities. The fund currently (March 2009) stands at US\$ 22 million having fallen from US\$ 22 billion at the beginning of 2009. This was due to the fund being drawn one to counter the global economic crisis. However, as recently as January 2007 the fund stood only at just under US\$ 15 billion.

Gereffi *et al.*, (2003) identify the important opportunities for economic diversification that there are in the oil and gas sector. All the leading international companies in the oil and gas value chain are in Kazakhstan. There is a need for collaboration with these companies and the government should not merely seek to extract the maximum revenue from them in the form of tax revenues. In particular, there is the need to train a Kazakhstani cadre of specialists, which will facilitate technological transfer. The World Bank (2005, pp. 37- 43) elaborates in greater detail the necessary policies to foster the development of oil and gas sector.

What is interesting, however, is the very limited discussion of the spatial implications of the necessary policy measures. Rakhmatulina (2005) notes that the construction of an integrated petroleum complex using gas from the fields in Tengiz, Kashagan, and North Caspian was mooted for West Kazakhstan and there are also plans for benzol production at the Atyrau refinery. One of the country's six special economic zones, the National Petrochemical Industrial Technopark has been established in the Atyrau region. "The aim is to attract investments in the construction and complex development of petrochemical plants for enhanced processing of hydrocarbon feedstock in Kazakhstan based on innovation technologies" (Kaktmatulina, 2005, p 10). In fact, the special economic zone is ambitiously seen as a possible Silicon Valley. Zabortseva (2009), while mentioning clusters, provides virtually no further details or analysis. Zashev and Vahtra (2006) treat "industrial clusters", including the energy industry in an aspatial sectoral manner.

8.2 Innovation Clusters and Technoparks in Kazakhstan

8.2.1 The Science Base of Kazakhstan

It has been argued above that it is important for Kazakhstan to diversify away from its dependence on the extraction of oil and gas and the exports of those products. This view is set out by the Kazakhstan's Ministry of Industry and Trade (2003) and supported by a recent World Bank (2005) study. In particular, it needs to move into the production of relatively knowledge-intensive technically sophisticated goods with a high income elasticity of demand. Although the per capita income of Kazakhstan is relatively low, at \$6140 per capita measured at PPP⁵⁴ (World Development Indicators database 2008), it is

⁵⁴ This gave it a ranking of 91 on a world scale.

important to remember that it is a transition and not a developing country, and has a welldeveloped science sector.

Under the Soviet regime, Kazakhstan developed a sophisticated research capability, largely based on the defence (including nuclear and biological weapons research) and space industry. Since 1991, the emphasis has shifted away from military R&D and many of the Soviet scientists have returned to Russia. The 50 large Soviet enterprises that supported most of the R&D in Kazakhstan prior to 1991 have all but disappeared. There is still a dependency on Russia for spare parts for capital equipment, but with the introduction of new foreign technology, this is declining.

Consequently, there is an extensive foundation of technology capability on which Kazakhstan is attempting to build. The Soviet legacy includes a population with a 99% literacy rate. Nevertheless, in spite of the government's focus on science and technology (S&T), education provision in this area has deteriorated significantly over the last decade. Many educators have left the university system for the private sector, given the relatively low pay in the former. Working in the S&T sector has steadily declined in prestige, as has an interest in the engineering and the physical sciences (National Research Council, 2007). There is now a severe lack of well-trained students entering the S&T profession. This is not only due to the low salaries, but also to the marked decline in the standard of equipment and other facilities since the Soviet era.

Moreover, the structure of S&T research is segmented and there is little collaboration between the universities and the 25 independent researches institutes. Many of the research centres operate in isolation even from each other and there are few links with industry, either domestic of foreign. The institutes are also excessively hierarchical in structure, a legacy from the Soviet era, which stifles the research incentives of the younger members of staff.

It is inevitable that, for the foreseeable future, Kazakhstan will have to rely on foreign technology and technological transfer as it attempts to diversify its production. Indeed, few domestic companies show much interest in local R&D. The problem that this poses is that there are no market indications to guide the direction of S&T research, especially in the public sector research programmes.

The National Research Council (2007) has emphasised that upgrading established technologies are likely to have greater payoffs than trying to establish and compete in "breakthrough" technologies, attractive though the latter are to the government in terms of prestige. This upgrading includes providing technical support for the provision of health care, education, agriculture, transport and communication industries and the improvement of water and sanitation services. Agriculture is particularly important given that a substantial proportion of the population depends upon the sector for its livelihood, and it accounts for a substantial proportion of the country's exports.

A major problem is that many domestic companies are still uncommitted to R&D, preferring to concentrate on ways of minimising costs using outmoded technology rather than developing and using new technology. The government proposal that the private sector should provide 50% of total national R&D by 2012, rising eventually to two-thirds looks very over-optimistic. At present, of all new technology about 5% is provided by foreign companies operating in the country, 3.7% from Kazakhstan's private sector and 0.6% from the state-owned companies. The remainder comes from abroad.⁵⁵

It should also be remembered that in the advanced countries, innovative activity results in a myriad of small improvements with only occasional substantial and revolutionary scientific breakthroughs. But few large domestic companies have R&D departments. Part of the reason is the lack of taxation incentives. Moreover, while most of the research is done in the research institutes and universities, there is little interest in their output due to poor marketing and technical transfer capabilities.⁵⁶ It is for this reason that the establishment of technoparks have been advocated.

8.2.2 The Innovation Clusters and the Technoparks

In the advanced countries, ever since the success of Silicon Valley, a great deal of attention has been focussed on the role of science parks, or technoparks as they are sometimes called,

⁵⁵ National Research Council (2007, p.21).

⁵⁶ The National Research Council (2007) provides detailed recommendations for improving Kazakhstan's science and technology both with regard to S&T institutions and the various sectors. These will not be discussed here.

in fostering both invention and innovation. In this section, the experience of Kazakhstan in this area is discussed.

Silicon Valley is the exemplar of a cluster of high-tech firms that have developed with the close collaboration of a leading university (Stanford).⁵⁷ As such, the firms in Silicon Valley have not only benefitted from all the MAR and Jacobs external benefits that spatial proximity brings, but have been crucial in the commercialising and developing new ideas from the university sector. The Boston cluster and the Cambridge (UK) science park are also seen as examples, par excellence, of this phenomenon. In particular, technoparks containing the biotech/life sciences have become increasingly fashionable, including one being developed at Astana, Kazakhstan with an investment of US\$50 million. Most of these parks are funded by public funds.

It has been taken as almost axiomatic that the encouragement of the diffusion of leadingedge, or best-practice techniques, is of crucial importance in increasing the competitiveness of an advanced country. But it should be remembered that this is unlikely to be the optimal strategy for a transition economy, where, as was noted above, improvements to existing out-of-date technology will likely have a higher rate of return. Consequently, many science parks, or technoparks, were set up in the advanced countries in the 1970s and the 1980s, and the pattern was replicated in the transition economies in the 1990s. Given that R&D was exclusively undertaken by the state in these countries until the break-up of the Soviet Union, the establishment of technoparks would seem to be an important strategy in improving the rate of innovation.

Nevertheless, the success of technoparks, especially as they are seen as an integral part of the linear innovation model,⁵⁸ has been greatly over-estimated by policy makers. Even in the advanced countries the ability of local universities to generate new technology that can successfully be transformed by the small high-tech firms in the neighbouring technoparks has been greatly exaggerated. Very often, the research outputs from the universities are too abstract or fundamental for easy and immediate application by firms. Moreover, where this

⁵⁷ See, for example, Kenney (2008).

⁵⁸ The linear innovation model sees inventions in the university sector being the generator of new ideas, which are then taken up and commercially developed by the small high-tech firms on the technoparks which then forward them to the big commercial companies. Thus, the technoparks are seen as the incubators of new knowledge.

is not the case, universities are often funded by the large companies on a long-term basis, especially in the pharmaceutical, chemical and engineering industries. These firms also have large in-house research departments that develop the new knowledge from the universities for commercial application. Spatial proximity in this case, and more generally, plays a very minor, if any role, in technology transfer which is, after all, the rational for the technopark.

In the case of the Cambridge science park, many firms set up there mainly because of the provision of new infrastructure and the prestige of the address, even if they have no direct links with the university. This is not to say that the technoparks do not convey some benefits. Firms tend to grow faster on the technoparks in terms of jobs and sales, even if this is not true in terms of profitability. But fast growth may equally be due to the small base from which the growth occurs and the firms are likely to be in sectors of high growth, *per se*.

Some technoparks undoubtedly have been a success, North Carolina's Research Triangle which was established in 1959 and is now one of the world's largest technoparks comes to mind. Similarly, Singapore's Biopolis and Taiwan's Hsinchu Science Park are also seen as a success (Rinaldi, 2006). But equally, there are many that have failed and the successes seem to be more the exception than the rule (Wallsten, 2004a).

The position is summarised by Radosevic and Myrzakhmet's (2006) study of technoparks in Kazakhstan. They state that "science parks generally do not constitute a significant stimulus for technology transfer from universities to industry (Koenraad, 1991) and have generated only a modest direct contribution to employment (Storey and Tether, 1998)". Not surprisingly, the experience of technoparks in the transition economies has been disappointing.

Practice shows that Polish technology parks are too weak to encourage the reindustrialisation of depressed areas, and their economic weight is insignificant (EU, 2003). The creation of technoparks was implemented in Russia during the 1990s to commercialise its vast S&T (science and technology) potential. However, the high expectations have not materialised, primarily because of weak demand from large firms for the products and services of new technology–based firms (Kihlgren, 2003). (Radosevic and Myrzakhmet, 2006, p.5) In the light of this, it is perhaps not surprising that the study by Radosevic and Myrzakhmet (2006) also came to rather negative conclusions about the success of Kazakhstan's technoparks. One of the reasons may, of course, be that the technoparks have only recently been established and it may be too early to come to any definitive conclusions. (The data for the study were collected in 2004.) Nevertheless, their results are instructive. There were at that time seven technoparks that had been set up by the local authorities. The study considered five of them, together with a sample of similar firms not on technoparks that served to act as a control. The first point to note is the relative small size of the technoparks. The parks employed only about 200-300 people each and the average employment per enterprise was only 12, compared with 61 for the firms in the control sample. Thus, they are not likely to have any major quantitative effect on Kazakhstan's economic development.

The study found that there were some systemic problems of the technopark strategy. In most other countries, the technoparks are designed to encourage the development of new high-tech firms and to encourage the commercialisation and development of new inventions. However, as was noted above, much of R&D in Kazakhstan is still produced almost entirely by the government sector. (See Table 3.) Consequently, there has been little movement from a state driven R&D sector to a private R&D sector. Moreover there is little evidence that innovation policy has moved from technical institutions that undertake R&D on behalf of the firms to one that successfully encourages in-house R&D expenditure.

Table 3. Percentage Shares of R&D Expenditure in Kazakhstan, North America and	d
the EU by Sector	

Proportion of R&D	Kazakhstan	North America	EU	
Expenditure by	2002	1995	1995	
Business sector	18.6	59.3	52.5	
Higher Education Sector	22.2	15.6	20.8	
Government Sector	57.2	10.2	16.2	

Source: Radosevic and Myrzakhmet (2006)

The major reason for the limited success to date of the technoparks is that the firms that have located there are nearly all low-tech businesses engaged in the production of, for example, furniture, souvenirs and services such as catering. Out of 110 firms studied, only four were in the IT industry and 11 in pharmaceutical industry. It seems that the main attraction of the technoparks was the lower rents. The firms had no strong links with other local firms on the park or with universities or research institutes and neither were they in any way export orientated. The firms on the technopark were no greater innovators than firms located elsewhere. Radosevic and Myrzakmet (2006) conclude that the innovation policy of Kazakhstan was, at that time, a failure. Most of the money for the parks went into basic infrastructure and there was little emphasis on innovation or creating links between firms, industries and research industries. In short, the technoparks were failures as innovative clusters.

Nevertheless, the government is pressing ahead with its policy of creating technoparks. The Center of Engineering and Transfer of Technology of MIT is aiming to set up 12 incubators, 7 regional technoparks and 6 national technoparks. The incubators are to be established in a university and for three years will provide marketing, financial, legal and other services to new firms. The regional technoparks will provide infrastructure and services to any companies while the national parks will concentrate on specific areas such as IT. The new Alatau Information Technology Park has attracted overseas companies such as Microsoft, Hewlett Packard, Siemens, Cisco Systems and the domestic firm, Kazkhtelecom. But the take-up by domestic firms has been disappointing. "The resident companies apparently are using the park for warehouse storage space, thereby taking advantage of the economic incentives, while contributing little to the economic development of the country" (National Research Council, 2007, p.81).

The conclusion is that the technoparks to date have been of virtually no help in developing technical transfer or increasing the rate of innovation in Kazakhstan. While this could change in the coming years, the major problems of S&T that need to be addressed are at the national level. They include developing a strategy that moves the S&T away from "technology push" (i.e., determined by agendas set by the research institutes) to one determined by "market pull". Moreover, there should be a greater focus on small incremental improvements to existing technology rather than attempts spectacular prestigious scientific breakthroughs. As Radosevic and Myrzakhmet (2006, p.19) conclude,

63

it is necessary to introduce policies to ensure that companies can "articulate their demand for R&D. Without this step, focusing on technoparks as a mechanism to improve competitiveness and diversify the economy may be far too expensive and uncertain a policy at this stage of economic development".

8.3 The Agro-Food Cluster in Kazakhstan⁵⁹

Agriculture is still a major source of employment in Kazakhstan accounting for about 32% of the total. However, because of its very relatively low productivity it only produces about 6% of the country's output. Because of the large numbers employment and the large proportion of the population living in rural areas (44%), the government has been active in promoting the development of this industry. Moreover, agriculture represents an important source of foreign earnings, mainly from exports to Russia. (Agricultural exports represent 4.2% of the total foreign earnings, but these are dwarfed by "mineral products' that account for nearly 70 %. Wheat accounts for over half the value of agricultural exports.)

Given its importance, it is not surprising that agriculture forms part of the Kazakhstan's government's cluster policy, with a number of potential regional clusters being designated. However, as we shall see, the question arises as to whether or not the establishment of clusters are likely to make much difference, given the overall level of inefficiency in the sector. This is both in terms of the low yields (half those found in the US), an inefficient transport system, inadequate food processing and outdated machinery. There is also the suggestion that government assistance has not been distributed to where the highest returns are and has gone proportionally more to the large corporate farms. All this would suggest that widespread aspatial economic reforms are the first priority and, without these, the cluster policy is likely to have only a marginal impact. The second problem, discussed below, is that the cluster policy seems designed to replicate the structure of the existing large agroholdings found in the north of the country and it is doubtful whether this is the best organisational structure for agriculture as a whole (Wandel, 2008).

Like the rest of the economy, the agricultural sector went through a crisis in the 1990s following the break up of the Soviet Union. Production collapsed and the sector was short of funds. The price of inputs used in agriculture such as fertilizers increased rapidly while

⁵⁹ This discussion draws on J. Wandel (2008)

the price of output remained strictly controlled by the government. This was reversed in 1999 due to a rapid rise in world prices and the recovery of Kazakhstan's major trading partners. There was a dramatic increase in the numbers employed in agriculture from 1.3 million in 1999 to 2.4 million in 2001, although part of this may be due to classificatory errors (Pomfret, 2006, p. 55). Nevertheless, in 2006, 39 percent of all corporate farms were still unprofitable, although this was an improvement on the figure of 78.5% in 1998 (Wendal, 2008, p.10).

Farm privatization and restructuring began in 1993 and, following a new Land Code in 2003, 90 percent of agricultural land is now private, with full property rights. There was a deliberate attempt to preserve the large integrated agroholdings in the northern grain areas.

Wheat is a major crop of Kazakhstan and the country is the 6th largest grain producer in the world. The major wheat growing areas are the northern oblasts of Akmola, Kostana and North Kazakhstan and wheat is mainly produced by large-scale corporate enterprises or 'agroholdings'. By way of contrast, individual family farms which produce most of the output dominate in the south. In the past, the CIS countries had been the main importers of Kazakhstan's grain, but now other countries are being targeted and Kazakhstan exports to Austria, the UK, Turkey, Switzerland, Saudi Arabia, China, North Korea and Mongolia. (Zashev and Vahtra, 2006, p.19.)

Kazakhstan's agricultural policy in the past was one of import substitution with food security as a priority. This has now changed to a more export-orientated policy, but it is still one based on subsidies and tariffs, with all the possible adverse resource allocations this implies. However, when world prices led to an export boom in grains, the government in May 2008 introduced export licences to retain more of the crop for domestic consumption for fear of social unrest. However, with 22 million tons of wheat produced in 2007, and domestic demand of only 3.5 million, the fact that this was necessary points to the substantial inefficiency in the distribution and marketing system. Thus, agriculture is, for domestic reasons, a politically sensitive sector.

There is a 40% subsidy for farm inputs and low tax rates for farmers. Agricultural machinery can be leased at subsidized rates (Wandel, 2008, p.11). There has also been a bias towards greater support for the larger corporate farms. The government has also

supported the food processing industry, which is the weakest link in the value chain. In 2007, nearly 80% of Kazakhstan food products were unprocessed. (Wandel, 2008, p.10) and the majority of processed goods have to be imported (including nearly all the country's butter and meat requirements).

All sectors of agriculture are plagued by old and inefficient machinery. "Almost 85% of the machinery currently being used in Kazakhstan is at least 12 years old and needs to be replaced, requiring up to \$320 million of investments for renovation. The lack modern agricultural machines is considered one of the major constraints preventing the sector's effective development" (Zashev and Vahtra, 2006, p.20). While there are plants in Kazakhstan producing agricultural machinery, this is not true of the food processing industry and nearly all the capital equipment for this sector has to be imported. This has led to the policy of "industrialization of agricultural production" which involves re-equipping agriculture with modern machinery. According to the government this can most effectively be done by the development of clusters. This is particularly true as there is a need to develop transport infrastructure and a whole host of ancillary support industries, including "a network of veterinarian and phyto-veterinarian services, procurement organizations, wholesale markets, information and marketing services as well as financial and insurance institutions" (Wandel, 2008, p.13).

The initiatives out forward to develop clusters in the agro-food industry include the following:

- Grain processing in the Akmola, Kostonay and North Kazakhstan
- Dairy production in Akmola, Kostonay, North Kazakhstan, Almaty, and East Kazakhstan,
- Fruit and vegetable production in Almaty, Zhambyl, and South Kazakhstan
- Meat processing in Kostanay, Pavlodar and North Kazakhstan
- Fish production in Atyrau, East Kazakhstan and Karanganda
- Cotton production in South Kazakhstan

Coordination councils were set up to bring the participants together and various tax relief and subsidies are proposed. The clusters are still in their infancy and the various individual developments have been discussed in detail by Wandel (2008). However, he is particularly critical of the whole initiative as he sees it essentially government driven with no reliance on, or guidance from, market forces. As such, it is based on the old Soviet mindset of the efficacy of state planning (partly in order to achieve food security) and the putative advantages of large vertically integrated enterprises that the government considers should be encouraged. In fact, as has been noted above, these have developed in the 1990s when large corporations, which comprised of vertically integrated production process, were often created by firms outside the agricultural industry. In a way, these could be seen as a blueprint for the cluster policy.

This was a pattern that first occurred in Russia in the 1980s and is generically termed "agroholdings". These had their origins in the centrally planned large vertically integrated agricultural organisations. These covered the whole production structure from the supply of inputs to marketing, and even included banks and enterprises from other industries such as the energy sector. The advantage of the agroholdings is that they can internalise many of the inter-firm and spatial spillover effects and hence may be an appropriate way for institutions to develop in transition economies. However, the work of Hockmann *et al.*, (2004) suggests that in Russia the agroholdings are often less efficient than other types of agricultural organisation. The reason was that this organizational structure leads to highly centralised decision making which is only suitable for a few specialised agricultural value chains.

In Kazakhstan, similar agroholdings are found especially in the grain growing areas of the north. It has been estimated that there are about 40 holding companies in the grain sector accounting for about two-thirds of total grain sales (both domestic and for export). The largest agroholding company outside the grain industry is the diary company *AO Food Master* which accounts for 30% of the market, but it is not engaged in primary production (Wandel, 2008, p.15). These agroholdings have a number of advantages that has resulted of the development of, especially, the grain sector. They have access to bank lending often based on their non-agricultural collateral; they benefit from economies of scale and specialist staff. They also can guarantee their sources of supply, and they can spread risk through their diversification of production and finally they have political influence. There are often close influential connections between the directors of the agroholdings and the regional administrators. Nevertheless, it should be remembered that the agroholdings only

67

developed in the large grain areas of the north and some large holdings are now leaving agriculture.

A close parallel drawn by Wandel (2008) is that of the late 19th and early 20th Century corporate wheat farming in the US which developed under similar conditions as are founds in Kazakhstan today. These included rising demand and prices for wheat, favourable weather conditions, technical change that favoured economies of scale, and cheap land. But they foundered, giving rise to smaller agricultural farms and the corporations instead concentrated on processing and marketing. The same seems to be happening in Kazakhstan simply because of delegation and agency problems and the difficulty of finding good quality managers (Wandel, 2008, p. 22). Moreover, some find it more profitable to move into other sectors, such as oil and real estate development.

The similarities between the agroholdings with the proposed agro-food cluster policy are readily apparent, and therein lies the problem. The cluster policy is based primarily on vertical integration. The agroholdings only developed in the wheat growing areas in the north and not in the south. One size does not fit all, and there are reasons for doubting whether or not agroholdings, *per se*, are the most efficient form of agricultural organisation.

Kazakhstan cluster policy is driven by government rather than being driven by market forces. The Ministry of Agriculture through a number of working groups identified the possible clusters. There is a reliance on protectionism, picking winners and "strategic trade policy" which compares unfavourably with the successful development of clusters that are based on competition and openness. But there is also a question of how far these policy intentions will actually be carried out in practice.

9. Conclusions

There is no doubt that the consideration of space matters for economic development. There is substantial evidence that the observed punctiform nature of production is due to internal increasing returns and agglomeration economies. It has been shown how these can give rise to a process of cumulative causation and increasing disparities both within and between countries. Within a country, there will, however, be limits to the rate of growth of a city as

congestion costs and rent increases begin to offset the cost advantages of economies of scale.

As a national economy becomes more integrated of the course of development, so there are like to be greater centripetal forces leading to a convergence of regional productivity levels. But, as the World Development Report (2008) notes, attempts to accelerate these spread effects are likely to be at the cost of aggregate productivity growth. There is thus a trade-off between efficiency and spatial equity. As we have seen, the concept of clusters, especially of the form advocated by Porter, have become an almost ubiquitous tool for considering how to increase productivity and competitiveness, and thereby accelerate development. But there are serious questions about whether or not this concept has the necessary theoretical foundations or empirical importance upon which to base the main thrust of a transition country's development strategy. Nevertheless, this is the path Kazakhstan has taken, at least in principle, drawing heavily on the advice of Porter.

A number serious reservation about the concept is that it is rather nebulous (Martin and Sunley, 2003). One of the problems is that the notion of the cluster is so broad that has been applied at a wide variety of geographical levels, ranging from small artisan clusters in rural villages in developing countries (see the symposium in *World Development*, Schmitz and Nadvi, 1999) to the large high-tech clusters such as Silicon Valley. Indeed, it is possible to identify clusters at virtually any spatial scale.

Furthermore, there are, almost by definition, likely to be a number of linkages between firms and their suppliers and their customers. Generally, they are all likely to be in reasonably close spatial juxtaposition, especially if the industry developed when transport costs were high and there is a large degree of inertia, or path dependency, because of sunk costs. Moreover, given firms in the same industry face the same locational constraints and, with bounded search and uncertainty, it is perhaps not surprising that they cluster, even when agglomeration economies are weak, or even absent. As van der Linde (2003, p.146) points out in his extensive survey of clusters, the presence of raw materials, cheap labour and special growing conditions (in the case of the agriculture and fishery sector) are often initially more important than a skilled labour force, a specialized labour force, or a near-by university.

Cluster studies have almost obligatory flow diagrams that show the connections between the supporting and related industries, industrial associations, academia (including research institutes) etc. Such relationships are not, *per se*, evidence, of market failure due to agglomeration economies and they are not necessarily evidence of the need for government intervention to correct these failures. The development problems facing the transition economies go beyond mere considerations of the improving the coordination of existing industries and institutions.

Moreover in spite of the widespread use of the cluster as a policy tool, Porter's policy prescriptions are somewhat anaemic, essentially because of a conflict between what is seen as the primacy of market forces, but also the need for government policy. Porter argues that it is not the government's job to initiate new clusters or to encourage the development of a particular industry, but merely to raise the productivity of *all* existing clusters. This is largely to be done through the setting up of, for example, appropriate co-ordinating agencies. But, perhaps not surprisingly, this is not how the implications of cluster policy have been interpreted. As Woodward (2005) has cogently argued, it has often been taken as a recipe, to a greater or lesser extent, for industrial targeting and an industrial strategy.

For a developing or a transition country, following Porter's advice would mean rigidly following the country's static comparative advantage whereas much of the evidence from the rapid development of Japan in the 1950s and the 1960s and the newly industrialising countries points to the opposite conclusion. The aim should be to develop industries which have the greatest growth potential, even if this is not where the short-term comparative advantage lies. In this sense, a distinction should be made between the static comparative advantage and dynamic comparative advantage or the "competitive strengths" (McCombie and Richardson, 1987) of a country. This is not to say that widespread import substitution policies, especially without sunset clauses, are a *sine qua non* of development. Clearly the experience of some Latin American economies points to the opposite conclusion. But as Rodrik (2004, p.2) has persuasively argued, while market forces and private entrepreneurship have to be harnessed, governments need to perform a "strategic and coordinating role in the productive sphere beyond simply ensuring property rights, contract enforcement, and macroeconomic stability." There is a clear and important role for government in the development process (Wade, 2003)

70

There are certainly a number of general issues that Kazakhstan needs to address, but have nothing to do with clusters, indeed as Porter (2005) notes. Like many former communist countries, prior to 1991, property rights were vested in the state and private property rights may still be unclear. There is need for a clear and transparent judicial process. Because the national economy was integrated into the FSU, there was an over-dependence of heavy machinery which is still producing inefficiency. There is still the problem of excessive red tape and lack of regard for the entrepreneurial spirit. "The notion of owning one's own business and profit making is still seen as something negative by large parts of society. Entrepreneurs are often hesitant to cooperate both with authorities and with business owners, preferring instead to go it alone. One reason for this could be lack of social capital in post socialist societies with social networks in short supply". (OECD, 2005, p. 28. See Chapter 2 for a discussion of the importance of social capital in post-communist societies.) These are all issues that the transition economies, including Kazakhstan need to tackle, especially if much needed foreign direct investment is to be encouraged. Moreover, a crucial issue for all the CAREC countries is to improve transport communications with the rest of the world.

This is not to say that cluster analysis is not without its uses, especially given the need for government resources to be spatially concentrated for the greatest return. While Kazakhstan has made the development of industrial clusters a major component of its economic strategy, it is noticeable how recent studies concerning the country have barely mentioned clusters (Zabortseva, 2009, Rakhmatulina, 2006, Libman, 2006, and World Bank 2006. Even Zashev and Vahtra, 2006, treat clusters as, in effect, industrial categories.) This may be partly a result of the lack of published data and information on clusters. It is interesting, however, to note that although the structure of the cluster initiative was discussed at <u>www.cluster.kz</u> (Libman, 2006, p.24), "services for this domain have been discontinued" (as of 21st February, 2010). There is evidence that the emphasis of clusters in Kazakhstan's development policies is waning and cluster policy is no longer being actively discussed, notwithstanding its earlier prominence.⁶⁰

⁶⁰ Meruert Makhmutova, Director, Public Policy Research Center, Kazakhstan, personal communication, October 2009.

Nevertheless, Porter does stress the importance of the competitiveness of traded sector for generating growth. The approach of Hausmann *et al.*, (2005) in determining those industries where countries have the greatest potential for competing in world markets is especially instructive. Once this is has been done, there is a limited role for cluster analysis to determine how this may best be implemented.

10 References

Abramovitz, M. (1986), "Catching Up, Forging Ahead and Falling Behind", *Journal of Economic History*, vol. 46, pp. 385-506.

Acemogu, D., Johnson S., and Robinson, J.A. (2001), "The Colonial Origins of Comparative Development: An Empirical Investigation", *American Economic Review*, vol. 91 pp.1369-1401.

Akiner, S. (ed.) (2004), *The Caspian. Politics, Energy and Security*, Abingdon, Oxford: RoutledgeCurzon.

Angeriz, A., McCombie, J.S.L., and Roberts, M. (2008), "New Estimates of Returns to Scale and Spatial Spillovers for EU Regional Manufacturing, 1986-2002", *International Regional Science Review*, vol. 31, pp.62-87.

Armstrong, H. and Taylor, J. (2000) "*Regional Economics and Policy*", Oxford: Blackwells, 3rd edition,

Arrow, K. J. (1962), "The Economic Implications of Learning by Doing", *Review of Economic Studies*, vol. 29, pp. 155-173.

Arrow, K.J. (2000), "Increasing Returns: Historiographic Issues and Path Dependence, *European Journal of History of Economic Thought*, vol. 7, pp. 171-180.

Arthur, W. B. (1994), *Increasing Returns and Path Dependence in the Economy*, Ann Arbour: University of Michigan Press.

Asian Development Bank, (2006), Central Asia. Increasing Gains from Trade Theory, Regional Cooperation in Trade Policy, Transport and Customs Transit, Manila: Asian Development Bank.

Auty, R. M. (2001), Resource *Abundance and Economic Development*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Auty, R. M. (2006), "Resource–Driven Models of the Development of the Political Economy in Auty, R.M. and De Soysa, I. (eds) *Energy, Wealth and Governance in the Caucasus and Central Asia, Lessons Not Learned.* London: Routledge.

Baldwin, R. and Martin, P. (2004) "Agglomeration and Regional Growth", in Henderson, V. and Thisse, J. (eds), *Handbook of Regional and Urban Economics*, Elsevier Science Publishers, Amsterdam.
Beckmann, M. (1958), "City Hierarchies and Distribution of City Size", *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, vol. 6, pp. 243-48.

Bertola, G. (1993) "Models of Economic Integration and Localised Growth", in Torres, F. and Giavazzi, F. (eds) *Adjustment and Growth in the EMU*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Brülhart, M. and Sbergami, F. (2009), "Agglomeration and Growth: Cross-country Evidence", *Journal of Urban Economics*, vol. 65, pp.48-63.

Brakman S. and Garretson, H. (2003), "Rethinking the 'New' Geographical Economics". *Regional Studies*, vol. 37, pp. 637-648.

Brakman, S., Garretsen, H, and van Marrewijk, C. (2009), *The New Introduction to Geographical Economics*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Chamberlin E. H. (1933), *The Theory of Monopolistic Competition*, Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.

Chinitz, B. (1961), "Contrasts in Agglomeration: New York and Pittsburgh," *American Economic Review: Papers and Proceedings*, vol. 51, pp. 279-289.

Christaller, W. (1933/1966), *Central Places in Southern Germany*, Englewood-Cliffs: Prentice–Hall.

Ciccone A. and Hall, R.E. (1996), "Productivity and the Density of Economic Activity," *American Economic Review*, vol.86, pp.54-70.

Collier, P. and Godersis, B. (2007) "Commodity Prices, Growth, and the Natural Resource Curse: Reconciling a Conundrum", mimeo, *Department of Economics*, University of Oxford.

Conlisk, J. (1968), "Non-Constant Returns to Scale in a Neoclassical Growth Model", *International Economic Review*, vol. 9, pp.369-373.

Corden, W. M. and Neary, J.P. (1982), Booming Economy and De-industrialization in a Small Open Economy", *Economic Journal*, vol. 92, pp.825-848.

Cortright, J. (2006), *Making Sense of Clusters. Regional Competitiveness and Economic Development.* The Brookings Institution Metropolitan Policy Program, Discussion Paper.

Dalmazzo A. and de Blaiso G. (2001), "Resource and Incentives to Reform: A Model and Some Evidence on Sub-Saharan African Countries," *IMF Working Paper*, No. 86, Washington, D.C.

Denison, E. F. (1967), *Why Growth Rates Differ: Postwar Experience in Nine Western Countries*, Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution, 1967.

Denison, E. F. (1985), *Trends in American Economic Growth*, 1929-1982, Washington: The Brookings Institution.

Dixit, A.K. and Stiglitz, J.G. (1977) "Monopolistic Competition and Optimum Product Diversity", *American Economic Review*, vol. 67, pp. 297-308.

Dixon, R. J. & Thirlwall, A. P. (1975), "A Model of Regional Growth-Rate Differences on Kaldorian Lines," *Oxford Economic Papers*, vol. 27, pp. 201-14,

Dixon, R. J. & Thirlwall, A. P. (1978), "A Reply to Guccione and Gillen [Growth Rate Stability in the Kaldorian Regional Model: The Characteristic Roots]," *Scottish Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 25, p. 212.

Duranton, G. (2008), "Californian Dreamin': The Feeble Case for Cluster Policies", University of Toronto, (mimeo)

Easterly, W., and Levine, R. (2001), "It's Not Factor Accumulation: Stylized Facts and Growth Models", *World Bank Economic Review*, vol. 15, pp. 177-219.

Eaton, J. and Eckstein, Z., (1997), "Cities and Growth. Theory and Evidence from France and Japan", *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, vol. 27, pp.443-74.

Ellison G. and Glaeser, E.L. (1999) "The Geographic Concentration of Industry: Does Natural Advantage Explain Agglomeration?" *American Economic Review*, vol. 89, *Papers and Proceedings*, pp. 311-316.

Ellison, G., and Glaeser, E. L. (1997) "Geographic Concentration in U.S. Manufacturing Industries: A Dartboard Approach," *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 105, pp. 889-927,

Esanov, A., Raiser, M. and Buiter, W. (2006), "Nature's Blessing or Natures Curse? The Political Economy of Transition in Resource-based Economies", in Auty, R.M. and de Soysa, I. (eds), *Energy, Wealth and Governance in the Caucasus and Central Asia, Lessons not Learned*, London: Routledge.

European Union, (2003), Trendchart, Poland, National Report, (www.trendchart.lu.)

Fagerberg, J (1994) "Technology and International Differences in Growth Rates" *Journal of Economic Literature*, vol.32, pp.1147-1175.

Fani, R. (1984), "Increasing Returns, Non-traded Inputs and Regional Development", *Economic Journal*, vol. 104, pp. 309-23.

Frankel, J. and Romer, D. (1999) "Does Trade Cause Growth?" *American Economic Review*, vol. 89, pp.379-399.

Gereffi, G., Rodriguez, P.L., and Abdildina, Z., (2003), "Economic Diversification in Kazakhstan with Special Emphasis on the Oil and Gas Value Chain" Background paper no. 2 for *Getting Competitive, Staying Competitive: The Challenge of Managing Kazakhstan's Oil Boom*, Washington, D.C.: The World Bank.

Glaeser, E. L. (1998) "Are Cities Dying?", *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, vol. 12, pp. 139-160.

Gordon, I. R., and McCann, P. (2000), "Industrial Clusters: Complexes, Agglomeration and/or Social Networks?", *Urban Studies*, vol.37, pp.513-532. Granmayeh, A. (2004), "Legal History of the Caspian Sea" in Akinener, S. (ed.) *The Caspian. Politics, Energy and Security*, London: Routledge Curzon

Griliches, Z., and Ringstad, V. (1971), *Economies of Scale and the Form of the Production Function*, Amsterdam: North Holland.

Guccione, A., and Gillen, W. (1978), "Growth Rate Stability in the Kaldorian Regional Model: The Characteristic Roots," *Scottish Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 25, p. 211,

Hausmann R., Hwang, J., and Rodrik, D. (2005), "What You Export Matters", Center for International Development, Harvard University, Working Paper no. 123.

Hildebrand, G. and Liu, T.C. (1965), *Manufacturing Production Functions in the United States*, 1957, Cornell: Cornell University Press.

Hockmann, H., Wandel, J. and Nedoborovskyy, A. (2004), "Agroholdings in Russia: Breaking the Vicious Circle?", 94th EAAE Seminar "From Households to Firms with Independent Legal Status: The Spectrum of Institutional Units in the Development of European Agriculture" Ashford (UK), 9-10 April, 2005

Hoover, E.M. and Giarranti, F. (1948), The Location of Economic Activity, McGraw Hill.

Jacobs, J, (1961), The Death and Life of Great American Cities. New York: Vintage Books.

Jacobs, J. (1969), The Economy of Cities, New York: Random House

Jones, C. I. (2001) *Introduction to Economic Growth*, New York: W.W. Norton & Co. (2nd edition)

Jorgenson D. W., and Griliches Z. (1967) "The Explanation of Productivity Change, *Review of Economic Studies*, vol. 34, pp. 249-283.

Kaldor, N. (1966), *The Causes of the Slow Economic Growth of the U.K. An Inaugural Lecture* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Kaldor, N. (1970), "The Case for Regional Policies", *Scottish Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 17, pp. 337-348.

Kaldor, N. (1972), "The Irrelevance of Equilibrium Economics", *Economic Journal*, vol. 82, pp. 1237–55.

Kennedy, K.A. (1971), *Productivity and Industrial Growth. The Irish Experience*, Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Kenney, M. (2008), "Lessons from the Development of Silicon Valley and its Entrepreneurial Support Network for Japan" in Ysuf, S., Nabeshima, K., and Yamashita, S. (eds) *Growing Industrial Clusters in Asia. Serendipity and Science*, Washington D.C.: The World Bank.

Kenny C. and Williams, D. (2001), "What Do We Know About Economic Growth? Or, Why Don't We know Very Much?", *World Development*, vol. 29, pp 1-21.

Ketels, C.H.M. (2003), "The Development of the Cluster Concept – Present Experiences and Further Developments", NRW Conference on Clusters, Duisburg, Germany 5 December 2003.

Kihlgren, A. (2003), "Promotion of Innovation Activity in Russia through the Creation of Science Parks: The Case of St. Petersburg (1992-1998)", *Technovation*, vol. 23, pp.64-76.

Kim, S. (1998), "Economic Integration and Convergence: U.S. Regions, 1870-1987." Journal of Economic History, pp. 659-683.

Kim, S. and Margo, R.A. (2004), "Historical Perspectives on U.S. Economic Geography" in Henderson, J.V. and Thisse, J-F, *Handbook of Regional and Urban Economics*, Volume 4, Cities and Geography, Amsterdam: North Holland.

Koenraad, P. (1991), "An Assessment of Science Parks: Towards Better Understanding of their Role in the Diffusion of Technological Knowledge", *R&D Management*, vol. 21, pp.18-27.

Krugman, P. (1991a), Geography and Trade, Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Krugman, P. (1991b), "Increasing Returns and Economic Geography", *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 99, pp.483-499.

Krugman, P. (1992), Geography and Trade, MIT Press Books,

Krugman, P. (1998), "What's New About the New Economic Geography?", Oxford Review of Economic Policy, vol. 14 pp. 7-17.

Krugman, P. (2003) "Where in the World is the "New Economic Geography", in The Oxford Handbook of Economic Geography " in Clark, G.L., Feldman. M. P., and Gertler, M.S. (eds) *The Oxford Handbook of Economic Geography*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Krugman, P. (2009), "The Increasing Returns Revolution in Trade and Geography", American Economic Review, vol. 99, pp. 561-71.

Kutan, A.M., and Wyzan, M.L. (2005), "Explaining the Real Exchange Rate in Kazakhstan, 196-2003: Is Kazakhstan Vulnerable to the Dutch Disease?" *Economic Systems*, vol. 29, pp. 242-255.

Lal, D., and Myint, H. (1996), *The Political Economy of Poverty, Equity and Growth: A Comparative Study*, Oxford: Clarendon Press.

List, F. (1841), *National System of Political Economy*, reprinted New York: Augustus M Kelley, 1996.

Lohmus, P. and Ter-Martirosyan, A. (2008), "Resource Revenue and Fiscal Sustainability in Kazakhstan" in Najman, B., Pomfret R., and Raballand G., (eds), *The Economics and Politics of Oil in the Caspian Basin*, London: Routledge.

Lösch, A. (1940) *Die räumliche Ordnung der Wirtschaft*. Jena: G. Fischer. English translation (of the 2nd rev. ed.): *The Economics of Location*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1954.

Lucas, R.E. (1990), "Why Doesn't Capital Flow from Rich to Poor Countries?" *American Economic Review, Papers and Proceedings*, vol. 80, pp.92-96.

Malmberg, A. (1996), "Industrial Geography: Agglomeration and Local Milieu", *Progress in Human Geography*, vol. 20, pp. 392-403.

Malmberg, A., and Maskell, P. (1997), "Toward and Explanation of Regional Specialization and Industry Agglomeration", *European Planning Studies*, vol. 5 pp. 25-41.

Mankiw, N.G. (1995), "The Growth of Nations", *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, pp. 275-326.

Mankiw, N.G. (2002), *Macroeconomics*, New York: Worth Publishers (5th edition).

Mankiw, G., Romer, D., and Weil, D.N. (1992), "A Contribution to the Empirics of Economic Growth", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol. 107, pp. 407-437.

Markandya, A. and Auty, R.M (2006), "Environmental Problems and Solutions in the Caspian and Aral Basins", in Markandya, A. and Auty, R.M. (eds) *Energy, Wealth and Governance in the Caucasus and Central Asia. Lessons not Learned*, London: Routledge.

Markusen, A. (1996), "Sticky Places in Slippery Space", *Economic Geography*, vol. 72, pp. 293-313.

Marshall A. (1890), Principles of Economics, London: Macmillan.

Martin, R.L. (1999) "The New 'Geographical Turn' in Economics, Some Critical Reflections" *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, vol. 23, pp.65-91.

Martin R.L. and Sunley P. (2003), "Deconstructing Clusters: Chaotic Concept or Policy Panacea", *Journal of Economic Geography*, vol. 3 pp.5-35

McCombie, J.S.L. and Roberts, M. (2007), "Returns to Scale and Regional Growth: The Static-Dynamic Verdoorn Law Paradox Revisited", *Journal of Regional Science*. 47, 179-208.

McCombie, J.S.L., Pugno, M., and Soro, B. (eds) (2001) *Productivity Growth and Economic Performance: Essays on Verdoorn's Law.* Basingstoke: Palgrave-Macmillan.

McCombie, J.S.L. and Richardson, C. (1987) "Competitive Strengths and Regional Economic Growth: The Case of the Victorian State Economic Strategy", *Australian Journal of Regional Studies*, vol. 1 pp. 3-21.

McCormick, D (1999) "African Enterprise Clusters and Industrialization: Theory and Reality", World Development, vol.27, pp.1531-1551.

McDonald, F., Huang, Q., Tsagdis, D., and Tüselmannm H.J., (2007), "Is there Evidence to Support Porter-type Cluster Policies? Regional Studies, vol. 41, pp. 39-49.

Ministry of Industry and Trade, Kazakhstan, (2003), *Strategy for Industrial-Innovation Development of the Republic of Kazakhstan for 2003-2015.*

Moroney, J. R. (1972), *The Structure of Production in American Manufacturing*, Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

Musabaeva, A (2007), "Kyrgyzstan in Search of a Recipe for Competitiveness", Institute for Public Policy (<u>http://www.ipp.kg/en/analysis/416/</u>, retrieved 1/1/2010)

Myrdal G. (1957), Economic Theory and Underdeveloped Regions, London: Duckworth.

Najman, B., Pomfret, R., and Raballand, G. (eds) (2008), *The Economics and Politics of Oil in the Caspian Basin., The Redistribution of Oil Revenues in Azerbaijan and Central Asia* London: Routledge.

Najman, B., Pomfret, R., Raballand, G., and Sourdin P. (2008) "Redistribution of Oil Revenue in Kazakhstan" in Najman, B., Pomfret, R., Raballand, G. (eds), *The Economics and Politics of Oil in the Caspian Basin. The Redistribution of Oil Revenues in Azerbaijan and Central Asia*, London: Routledge

National Research Council, (2007), *Science and Technology in Kazakhstan. Current Status and Future Prospects.* Washington D.C., The National Academies Press.

Nelson, B. and Behar, A. (2008) "Natural Resources, Growth and Spatially Based Development: A View of the Literature", Background Paper, World Development Report, *Reshaping Economic Geography*.

Neary, J.P. (2001), "Of Hype and Hyperbolas: Introducing the New Economic Geography", *Journal of Economic Literature*, vol. XXXIX, pp.536-561.

North, D.C. (1955), "Location Theory and Regional Economic Growth", *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 63, pp. 243-58.

North, D. C. (1956) "Exports and Regional Economic Growth: A Reply", *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 64, pp. 165-68.

North, D.C. (1990), *Institutions, Institutional Change and Economic Performance*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

OECD, (2005), Business Clusters. Promoting Enterprise in Central and Eastern Europe, Paris: OECD.

OECD, (2007), Competitive Regional Clusters, National Policy Approaches, Paris: OECD

Olcott, M. B. (2005), *Central Asia's Second Chance*, Washington, D.C.: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace.

Olcott, M. B. (2008), "Kazakhstan: Will 'BRIC' be Spelled with a K?" *China and Eurasia Forum Quarterly*, vol. 6, pp.41-53.

Olcott, M. B., Åslund, A., and Garnett, S.W., (1999), *Getting it Wrong. Regional Cooperation and the Commonwealth of Independent States*, Washington, D.C.: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace.

Peck, A.E. (2004), *Economic Development in Kazakhstan. The Role of Large Enterprises and Foreign Investment*, London: Routledge Curzon.

Piore, M.J., and Sabel, C.F. (1984) *The Second Industrial Divide: Possibilities for Prosperity.* New York: Basic Books.

Pomfret, R. (1995), The Economies of Central Asia, Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Pomfret, R. (2006), *The Central Asian Economies Since Independence*, Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Popa, H.L., Mocan, M.L. and Pater, L. R (2007), "Structures and Programmes for the Clusters Competitiveness in Romania", *International Conference on Economic Engineering and Manufacturing Systems*, vol. 8, pp.347-352.

Porter, M. E. (2001), Council on Competiveness and Monitor Group, *Clusters of Innovation Initiative: Regional Foundations of US Competitiveness*, Council on Competitiveness, Washington D.C.

Porter, M.E. (1990), The Competitive Advantage of Nations, New York: Free Press.

Porter, M.E. (1998), On Competition, Boston, Harvard Business School.

Porter, M.E. (2000), "Locations, Clusters and Company Strategy" in Clark, G.L., Feldman, M.P. and Gertler, M.S. (eds), *The Oxford Handbook of Economic Geography*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Porter, M.E. (2003), "The Economic Performance of Regions", *Regional Studies*, vol. 37 No.6/7, pp.549-678.

Porter, M.E. (2005) "Kazakhstan's Competitiveness, Roadmap to a Diversified Economy" at<u>http://www.isc.hbs.edu/pdf/Kazakhstan Competitiveness 2005.01.26.pdf</u> (retrieved 1 February 2010).

Raballand, G., and Gente, R (2008), "Oil in the Caspian Basin. Facts and Figures, in Najman, B., Pomfret, R., Raballand, G., (eds), *The Economics and Politics of Oil in the Caspian Basin. The Redistribution of Oil Revenues in Azerbaijan and Central Asia*, Abingdon: Routledge.

Raballand, G., Kunth, A., and Auty, R (2005), "Central Asia's Transport Cost Burden and its Impact on Trade", *Economic Systems*, vol.29, pp.6-31.

Radosevic, S. and Myrzakhmet, M., (2006), "Between Vision and Reality: Promoting Innovation Through Technoparks in Kazakhstan", UCL School of Slavonic and Eastern European Studies, Economics Working Paper No. 66.

Rakhmatulina, G.G. (2006) "Economic Restructuring in the Republic of Kazakhstan INDEUNIS Papers" (Industrial Restructuring in the NIS. Experiences of and Lessons from the New EU Member States, International Research Project. No. 516721) http://indeunis.wiiw.ac.at/index.php?action=content&id=publications. Retrieved 2/2/2010).

Redding, S., and Venables, A. (2004), "Economic Geography and International Inequality", *Journal of International Economics*, vol. 62, pp.53-82.

Richardson, H.W. (1978), Urban Economics, Hinsdale: The Dryden Press.

Rinaldi, A (2006) "More than the Sum of their Parts?" EMBO [European Molecular Biology Organisation] Reports, vol. 7, pp.113-136 (http://www.nature.com/embor/journal/v7/n2/pdf/7400633.pdf)

Ritter, A (2000), "Canada's "Mineral Cluster:" Structure, Evolution and Functioning", mimeo, Department of Economics and School of International Affairs, Carleton University, Ottawa, Canada.

Robinson, J.V. (1933), The Economics of Imperfect Competition, London: Macmillan.

Rodrick, D., Subramanian, A. and Trebbi, F. (2002) "Institutions Rule: The Primacy of Institutions over Geography and Integration in Economic Development". (mimeo)

Rodrik, D. (2004) "Industrial Policy for the Twenty-First Century", John F Kennedy School of Government, RWP04-047. Harvard University,

Rodríguez-Clare, A. (2005), "Clusters and Comparative Advantage: Implications for Public Policy", Inter-American Development Bank, Latin American Research Network, Working Paper no. 523.

Roelandt T.J.A. and den Hertog, P. (1999) "Cluster Analysis and Cluster-Based Policy Making: The Sate of the Art" in Roelandt, T.J.A. and den Hertog, P. *Cluster Analysis and Cluster-Based Policy: New Perspectives and Rationale in Innovation Policy.* Paris: OECD

Romanova, O.A. and Lavrikova, Y.G. (2008), "The Cluster Development of a Regional Economy," *Studies on Russian Economic Development*, vol. 19 pp. 366-375.

Romer, P.M. (1986), "Increasing Returns and Long-run Growth," *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 94, pp. 1002-37,

Rosenthal S. and Strange W.C. (2004) "Evidence on the Nature and Sources of Agglomeration Economies," in Henderson, J.V., and Thisse, J-F., (eds), *Handbook of Urban and Regional Economics 4*, Amsterdam: Elsevier.

Ross, M.L. (1999), "The Political Economy of the Resource Curse", *World Politics*, vol. 53, pp.325-361.

Rostow, W. W. (1960), *The Stages of Economic Growth*: A Non-Communist Manifesto Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Sachs J.D., and Warner, A.M. (1995), "Economic Reform and the Process of Global Integration", *Brookings Paper on Economic Activity*, vol. 1 pp. 1-118.

Saxenian, A. (1994) *Regional Advantage: Culture and Competition in Silicon Valley and Route 128.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Schmitz, H., and Nadvi, K. (1999), "Clustering and Industrialization: Introduction", *World Development*, vol. 27, pp.1503-1514.

Scott, A.J. (1993), *Technopolis: High Technology Industry and Regional Development in Southern California. Berkley*, CA: University of California Press.

Simonis, D. (2002), "The New Economic Geography: A Survey of the Literature", Federal Planning Bureau, Belgian Federal Public Bureau, pp.16-02.

Singh, I. (2001), "Natural Resource Based Clusters in the New Economy: Theory and Reality" Paper given at the 4th Annual International Conference of the Competitiveness Institute, Tucson, Arizona, October 2001.

Solow, R.M. (1956), "A Contribution to the Theory of Economic Growth", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol.70, pp.65-94.

Solow, R.M. (1957), "Technical Change and the Aggregate Production Function", *Review* of *Economics and Statistics*, vol. 39, pp. 312-20.

Solow, R.M. (2000), *Growth Theory. An Exposition*. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2nd edition).

Sraffa, P. (1926), "The Laws of Returns under Competitive Conditions", *Economic Journal*, vol. 36, pp. 535-550.

Storey, D.J. and Tether, B.S. (1998), "Public Policy Measures to Support New Technology Based Firms in the EU", *Research Policy*, vol. 26, pp. 1037-57.

Thirlwall, A.P. (1980), "Regional Problems are 'Balance of Payments Problems' ", Regional Studies, vol. 14, pp. 419-25.

Tiebout C.M. (1956), "Exports and Regional Economic Growth," *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 64, pp. 160-64.

United Nations Economic Commission for Africa (2004) *Minerals Cluster Policy Study in Africa, Pilot Studies of South Africa and Mozambique*, ECA/SDD/05/08.

USAID (2008), "The Cluster Approach to Economic Development", Technical Brief, no.7, Office of Economic Growth of EGAT/USAID.

van der Linde, C. (2002), "The Demography of Clusters – Findings of a Cluster Meta-Study", in Bröcker, J., Dohse, D., and Soltwedel, R. (eds), *Innovation Clusters and Interregional Competition*. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer-Verlag.

van Oort F. and McCann, P. (2009), "Economic Growth in Cities and Urban Networks", in Kochendörfer-Lucius, G., and Pleskovic, B. (eds), *Spatial Disparities and Development Policy*, Washington, D.C.: The World Bank.

Wade, R (2003) *Governing the Market: Economic Theory and the Role of Government in East Asian Industrialization.* Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Walker, M. and Jourdan, P. (2003), "Resource-based Sustainable Development: an Alternative Approach to Industrialisation in South Africa, *Minerals and Energy*, vol. 18 pp.25-43.

Wallsten, S. (2001), *The Role of Government in Regional Technology Development: The Effects of Public Venture Capital and Science Parks*, Stanford Institute for Economic Policy Research, Discussion Paper 00-39.

Wallsten, S. (2004a) "Do Science Parks Generate Regional Growth? An Empirical Analysis of their Effects on Job Growth and Venture Capital" Working Paper 04-04, Washington, DC (AEI-Brookings Joint Center for Regulatory Studies.)

Wallsten, S. (2004b), "High-tech Cluster Bombs", Nature, 428, pp. 121-122.

Wandel, J. (2008), "Agroholdings or Clusters in Kazakhstan's Agri-Food Sector?" mimeo, IAMO Forum.(http://www.iamo.de/uploads/media/Wandel-Agroholdings_or_Clusters.pdf)

Warsh, D. (2006), *Knowledge and the Wealth of Nations*, New York: W.W. Norton. Washington, D.C.

Webber, M.J. (1972) *Impact of Uncertainty on Location* Canberra: Australian National University Press.

Weber, A. [translated by Carl J. Friedrich from Weber's 1909 book]. *Theory of the Location of Industries*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1929.

Weijland, H. (1999), Microenterprise Clusters in Rural Indonesia: Industrial Seedbed and Policy Target, *World Development*, vol.27 pp.1515-1530.

Wood, A. (2002). "Could Africa be Like America?", Annual World Bank Conference on Development Economics.

Woodward, D. (2005), "Porter's Cluster Strategy Versus Industrial Targeting", Presentation given to the ICIT Workshop. Orlando, Florida, December 3, 2004.

World Bank, (1993), Kazakhstan: The Transition to a Market Economy, Washington, D.C.

World Bank, (2005), *Republic of Kazakhstan. Getting Competitive, Staying Competitive: The Challenge of Managing Kazakhstan's Oil Boom*, Washington, D.C.

World Bank, (2008) World Development Report, 2009, Reshaping Economic Geography,

World Bank, Project Information Document (2006), *Appraisal Stage for Technology and Competitiveness Project*, March.

Wright, T.P. (1936), "Factors Affecting the Cost of Airplanes", *Journal of Aeronautical Sciences*, vol. 3, pp. 122-128.

Young, A. (1928), "Increasing Returns and Economic Progress", *Economic Journal*, vol. 38, pp. 527-42.

Yusuf S., Nabeshima, K. and Yamashita S (eds) (2008), *Growing Industrial Clusters in Asia. Serendipity and Science*, Washington D.C.: The World Bank.

Zabortseva, Y.N. (2009), "A Structural Approach to Diversification of the Emerging Economy of Kazakhstan", *International Journal of Economic Policy in Emerging Economies*, vol. 2. pp.23-40.

Zashev, P. and Vahtra, P. (2006) "Kazakhstan as a Business Opportunity – Industrial Clusters and Regional Development", Turku School of Economics, Electronic Publications of Pan-European Institute, 6/2006.

(http://www.tse.fi/FI/yksikot/erillislaitokset/pei/Documents/Julkaisut/Zashev_Vahtra_6200 6.pdf Retrieved 2/2/2010.)